Crime & Disorder
(Overview & Scrutiny)
Committee
Councillor C S McLean (Chairman)
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor B Garden
Councillor A Gaskin
Councillor K J Grehan
Councillor P M Harman
Councillor D J Mote
Councillor T Oliver

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Wednesday 24 July 2019
at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
AGENDA
Wednesday 24 July 2019

1.

Apologies For Absence
To receive any apologies of absence.

2.

Declarations of Interest
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or
Managing Director.

3.

Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 13 February
2019

4.

Urgent Items

(Pages 1 18)

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any
urgent items and their position on the agenda.
5.

To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY)
There are no references from other Committees at present.

6.

Chairman's Update

7.

Regulation 9 Notice

(Pages 19
- 22)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 14
June 2019 to 31 October 2019.
8.

Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) Update

To note the attached draft Minutes of the Kent Police and Crime
Panel meeting held on 6 February 2019 and to receive an oral update
from the Council’s representative on the Panel, Councillor R J Wells,
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Safety.

(Pages 23
- 30)

9.

Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) Progress Report

(Pages 31
- 34)

To note the attached report recording the achievements of the D-TAC
scheme in Dartford during the period 1 July 2018 to 1 July 2019.
10.

Update on the Review of Dartford's Safer Streets Policy
To receive an update from Kent Police representatives.

11.

Performance

(Pages 35
- 36)

To consider the Quarterly Performance Report presented to the
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) at
their meeting on 18 July 2019 [Item A in the EXEMPT papers].
12.

Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022

(Pages 37
- 56)

To note the attached Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety
Partnership (CSP) Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022 document
and Appendices, and to comment accordingly.
13.

Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee Annual Report 2018-19

(Pages 57
- 86)

To consider a draft report on the work undertaken by the Committee
during the preceding 2018-19 municipal cycle and to comment
accordingly, prior to submission to the General Assembly of the
Council.
14.

Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee Protocol

(Pages 87
- 108)

To note the enclosed Protocol for the Committee dated June 2019.
15.

Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and
Combined Authorities

(Pages
109 - 140)

To note the enclosed statutory guidance from the Ministry of Housing,
Communities & Local Government.
16.

Committee's Rolling Work Programme for 2019-20 and Beyond

(Pages
141 - 146)

To consider the Committee’s rolling Work Programme for the current
2019-20 municipal cycle and beyond, as set out in the draft Work
Plan attached at Appendix A to the report.
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 9as
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item
of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt
information.
A.

Performance - Dartford & Gravesham CSP Performance Report
July 2019

(Pages
147 - 154)

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee held on Wednesday 13 February 2019.
PRESENT:

Councillor R J Wells (Chairman)
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor M J Davis (Substitute)

ABSENT:

Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor D J Mote
Dartford Borough Council Officers:Sheri Green

–

Mark Salisbury
Tony Henley
Jade Ransley

–
–
–

CABINET MEMBERS:

Strategic
Director
(External
Services)
EARS & CSU Manager
Community Safety Manager, CSU
Community Safety Officer, CSU

Councillor Ann Allen MBE, Portfolio Holder for
Community Development [by standing invitation]

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:
Chief Inspector Neil
Louden
Inspector Gavin Wade
PCSO Julia LindenTaylor
Oliver Jewell

16.

Dartford & Gravesham District
Commander, Kent Police
– Dartford CSU Inspector, Kent Police
– Dartford Youth Engagement Officer,
Kent Police
– Principal Trading Standards Officer,
Kent County Council Trading
Standards
–

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor D J Mote due to a prior
Mayoral duty (Substitute Cllr. M. Davis) and one for lateness from the ViceChairman Cllr. Sandhu.
The Chairman extended a particular welcome to Chief Inspector Neil Louden,
Kent Police, who was attending his first meeting of the Committee as the new
District Commander for Dartford and Gravesham. He also welcomed
1

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
Inspector Gavin Wade, Dartford CSU Inspector and PCSO Julia LindenTaylor, Dartford Youth Engagement Officer and noted welcomed the presence
of the Strategic Director (External Services), the EARS & CSU Manager, the
Community Safety Manager and the Community Safety Officer.
Councillor Ann Allen MBE, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community
Development, was in attendance by standing invitation.

17.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest from Members, or from Cllr. Sandhu
when he subsequently joined the proceedings.

18.

CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 JULY
2018
RESOLVED:
1. That the Minutes of the Committee’s meeting held on 25 July 2018 be
confirmed as an accurate record of those proceedings.

19.

URGENT ITEMS
The Chairman confirmed that there were no urgent items for Members to
consider.

20.

TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY)
There were no references from other Committees.

21.

REGULATION 9 NOTICE
RESOLVED:
1. That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 January
2019 to 31 May 2019 be noted.

22.

KENT POLICE AND CRIME PANEL (PCP) UPDATE
Members were asked to note the published Minutes of the PCP meetings held
on 19 July, 27 September and 14 November 2018 [agenda pages 19-42
refer].
The Chairman advised Members that he had attended the most recent
meeting of the Panel on 6 February 2019 and gave the following summary of
the principal matters discussed, pending publication of the Minutes by KCC.

2

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019






Police Precept: The proposal by the Kent Police & Crime
Commissioner (PCC) Mr Scott, to raise the Police precept in the
Council Tax had been approved by the Panel. The increase would
equate to a £24 annual increase in Council Tax [for each Band D
property] and help fund an increase in overall Kent Police numbers of
180 new Officers. The new recruits when trained would be split on a
50:50 basis between local policing and investigations, subject to the
overall operation control of the Chief Constable. Despite the proposed
increase, the Police precept for Kent would remain within the 10 lowest
in England. Since Mr Scott had taken office as PCC, overall Police
numbers in Kent had risen by 450 Officers during his tenure to date;
Crime Recording: The Panel had been advised that, following the
latest inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC)
in 2018 Kent Police had regained its ‘Outstanding’ status for the
recording of crime;
Brexit: In his role as PCC for Kent, Mr Scott sat on the Home
Secretary’s [centrally funded] cross-party Working Group considering
appropriate civil contingency measures post Brexit, including a ‘nodeal’ scenario. Initial funding of £150K had been allocated to Kent to
date, to implement any appropriate measures after 29 March 2019.

The Lead Member for Enforcement & Community Safety [in attendance as a
Committee Member] reminded Members that the PCC had previously given
an undertaking to review the existing 101 and 999 response services,
following concerted expressions of concern from the public and Members over
current service levels. The Chairman undertook to confirm what progress had
been made in the interim and update Members in due course.
The Ward Member for Joyce Green and Chairman of Sutton-at-Hone and
Hawley Parish Council, advised the Committee that the PCC had visited his
Parish the previous week, and informed Parish Members that the public
continued to use the 101 response service as a ‘stepping-stone’ to the 999
service. The PCC had formulated a plan to review both services, but pay
scales and consequent staff retention, remained crucial issues still to be
resolved, in his efforts to improve both services for the public.
RESOLVED:
1. That Members note the published Minutes of the Kent & Medway
Police and Crime Panel (PCP) meetings held on 19 July, 27
September and 14 November 2018 as reproduced in the Agenda
pages 19-42 inc.;
2. That Members note the verbal summary provided by the Chairman of
the PCP meeting held on 6 February 2019.
23.

PRESENTATION BY KENT COUNTY COUNCIL TRADING STANDARDS
Members received a PowerPoint presentation from Oliver Jewell, Principal
Trading Standards Officer, Trading Standards, Kent County Council. He
3

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
advised that Kent’s Trading Standards operation had been rationalised and
was now situated entirely in Ashford, and comprised of four re-structured
teams:
 Complex Investigations Team - dealing with rogue traders on an indepth basis;
 Food Chain Team;
 Business Advice Services Team – Brexit had increased the Team’s
work-load considerably;
 Consumer and Public Safety Team – this comprised 8 officers under
Oliver Jewell as Principal Trading Standards Officer
His presentation covered the following principal areas and work priorities of
the Trading Standards operation in Kent, with particular reference to his own
Consumer & Public Safety Team:
Brexit
For Trading Standards Brexit remained a major unknown in terms of the
impact that the final deal approved by Parliament would have on trading and
business in the UK, or in the event of a ‘no-deal’ scenario, what degree of
contingency and even emergency planning would be required. It was
estimated that either final scenario would entail:





An increase in work at all the Channel ports and dock operations;
An increase in Trading Standards’ support to businesses;
The potential for criminals to exploit continuing uncertainty over the
final outcome and subsequently, particularly in the event of a ‘no-deal’
scenario;
Significant contingency planning to prevent fuel shortages post Brexit
and gridlock on the motorway and road system, in particular access to
and egress from the Channel ports.

Consumer and Public Safety Team: Work Areas




Product Safety work concentrated on preventing faulty goods reaching
the marketplace, initially as an Intel led operation at the docks and
other points of UK entry and subsequently by inspecting retail premises
that became subject to Intel reports or public concern. All products from
cosmetics to construction materials and electrical machinery were
subject to safety inspection by Trading Standards. CE and UK/CE
safety labelling on products was subject to regular inspection, and were
companies assisted in the event of products having to be re-called from
the market;
Combating underage sales of alcohol and tobacco through an holistic
and intelligence led approach between the Police, the public and young
people to form effective partnership working in the community to
identify and prosecute offending retailers;
4

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019






Preventing the sale of illegal alcohol and tobacco [not overly prevalent
in Kent to date] and supporting vaping sales (legitimate since 2016) as
a healthier alternative to smoking pending, further definitive medical
evidence of the ‘benefits’ of vaping over smoking;
Combating knife crime through an Intel led approach against suspected
retailers and the enforcement of the over 25 policy;
Supervision of petrol storage, including design and construction of
petrol stations, testing for leakages, and post Brexit measures to
combat petrol hoarding;
Explosives monitoring, particularly fireworks and the possibility of
bomb-making from such commonly sold products.

Illegal Tobacco






Illegal tobacco could most easily be recognised by its labelling - often
in a Cyrillic [rather than English] script and without the usual health
warnings. These products contained more impurities than legal brands
and continued to burn when discarded by tired/inebriated smokers,
leading to increased fire risks. The main targeted source of supply by
Trading Standards were ‘Mock Convenience Stores’ predominantly
run by foreign nationals who sold a basic selection of consumer
products e.g. tea, coffee, sugar, toilet rolls in an effort to hide their core
business of illegal tobacco sales. Genuine retail stores were also
‘guilty’ of selling illegal tobacco attracted by both the profit mark-up and
as a means of attracting increased customer footfall for sales of its
legal consumer products. The advent of online and Facebooks traders
dealing expressly in illegal tobacco products was a growing trend;
Trading Standards targeted illegal tobacco sales because of the
increased health risks from such products particularly for minors, and
the threat it posed to overall Government health policy, by making
smoking more affordable. Cheaper illegal products also undermined
local economies by removing revenue from genuine businesses and
passing it to organised criminal operations, which in turn threatened the
budgets/ funding of enforcement authorities and other Government
bodies through the loss of tax revenue to the Exchequer. Employees
(including children) of such ‘Mock Convenience Stores’ were also
under threat to continue to work for their criminal taskmasters, who
used untaxed and unlicensed vehicles to store and transport their
stock, often using unlicensed drivers;
The results of a 2018 survey of smokers in SE England revealed that
70% bought illegal tobacco from shops, with 75% either knowing they
were buying counterfeit products, or simply didn’t know or care. Some
83% of smokers had a single supplier (so changing their behaviour
would be effective) with 87% agreeing that all smokers bought illegal
product at some time, and that cheaper illegal tobacco made it harder
to quit smoking. If caught and prosecuted for buying illegal product
70% of smokers surveyed would be put off, 78% would stop
purchasing illegal product if they thought it was linked to criminal
5

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019





gangs, and 85% would stop buying if they knew the shop involved
supplied to children;
Kent Profile: approximately 20 shops of a criminal nature had been
identified in Kent but the traditional investigation/prosecution route
wasn’t always the answer to effectively combating such operations,
which often operated on a ‘handshake’ basis, with no paper trail to
underpin prosecutions in the Courts. Utility bills continued to be met at
such premises which were often eligible for business rates
discounts/exemptions, making true ownership hard to establish, and
successful prosecutions even harder to achieve. Magistrates could
impose significant fines against those convicted, but such sums were
insignificant, compared to the overall profit made from such illegal
operations which could pay fines from 1 day’s trading alone;
Investigation Options: exploring alternative strategies with local
authorities and Kent Police were essential e.g. Illegal Tobacco Unit
Roadshow funded by Kent Public Health [in Dartford in 2017]; School
theatre productions at Primary and Secondary level warning against
the dangers of smoking – particularly illegal products; Kent Police
Open Day and spray-painting ‘Smoke-Free Zone’ signs in public places
e.g. Young Mum’s Centre in the Isle of Sheppey. The use of ‘joined-up’
reporting across Agencies was also important and helped demonstrate
the ‘nuisance’ caused by such ‘Mock Convenience Stores’ across the
board e.g. the link that illegal tobacco sales [and alcohol sales] had to
increased levels of anti-social behaviour (ASB). A multi-agency
sustainable approach was required to both disrupt supply networks and
deter users. All Intel (including from the public) was valued and passed
to Trading Standards Intel Unit for analysis (intelunit@kent.gov.uk or
tel. 03000 412020).

In response to subsequent questions from Members, the Principal Trading
Standards Officer gave the following advice:





Magistrates could impose significant fines on retailers of illegal
tobacco, and cases passed up to the Crown Court could result in
prison terms of up to 10 years. However, Magistrates tended towards
non-custodial community service orders and fines. This was the
outcome in the recent case of a repeat offender successfully
prosecuted and convicted in Dartford. The Magistrate had imposed a
fine plus 240 hours of community service, in recognition of the fact that
the offender was also an employer. A custodial sentence would impact
adversely on the staff, possibly even closing the business in the
owner’s absence in prison.
Trading Standards could be called to appear before Council SubCommittees to give evidence in licence review cases to help combat
illegal alcohol and tobacco sales;
Rogue traders who targeted an area and a particular customer profile
e.g. the elderly, could be subjected to an asset revue by Trading
Standards and made to justify their revenue holdings for the previous 6
year period. Where evidence of irregularities were found cases were
6

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019



referred to the Police for prosecution. Any Intel received from elected
Members and the public on rogue traders was always welcome and
assessed appropriately;
Bogus callers seeking unpaid tax on behalf of HMRC from local
businesses were usually based aboard, and used ‘closed’ telephone
lines that were difficult to check or trace. Members and residents
should pass any/all details of such approaches to Trading Standards
Intel Unit who would alert HMRC as appropriate. The Customer
Information Team based within Trading Standards Business Advice
Services, used their Twitter account to alert the public to such bogus
callers when they came to their attention. Community Wardens and
Kent’s Vulnerable Victim’s Officer where also informed as and when
rogue traders and bogus callers were active in targeted areas.

Members had an important role to play, both in alerting their constituents and
also helping to collate the facts and any evidence, for passing to Trading
Standards to take appropriate action.
The Chairman and Members thanked Mr. Jewell for a very comprehensive
presentation and for his detailed answers to their questions and concerns,
and extended a further invitation to him to update the Committee in the future.
24.

REVIEW OF DARTFORD'S 'SAFER STREETS' POLICY
The Chairman advised Members that prior to receiving an update from Kent
Police guests on Dartford’s current Safer Streets policy; he had agreed that
the Committee should be addressed by a representative from the Nepalese
community resident in Dartford regarding their perceived concerns that
organised criminal gangs committing burglary in the Borough were targeting
Indian and Nepalese homes.
The Nepalese community representative informed Members that burglary
offences in Dartford had risen consistently over the previous 6 year period,
with the 100 plus families of Indian and Nepalese descent resident in Dartford
appearing to suffer from this particular crime on a disproportionate basis.
He asked that increased Police resources be deployed in the town centre to
combat this continued rise in burglary offences, including more resources for
the Neighbourhood Watch scheme, and asked how his resident Association
could help the Police to positively address the issue.
The District Commander advised that Kent Police were aware of the
consistent rise in burglary offences and had a Kent Control Strategy in place
to combat this particularly pernicious crime which had a major impact on
victims in terms of loss, stress and personal invasion. A concerted 3-4 week
operation was presently being undertaken by Kent Police in Dartford, resulting
in arrests of key known criminals using Intel and CCTV footage. Dartford’s
CSU Inspector would continue to work with the local community and all
7

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
residents and community groups and would attend any proposed meetings, to
help educate residents over measures they could adopt to help the Police
further combat burglary in their areas.
The Chairman thanked Kent Police for their response and update on the
measures currently being undertaken to address burglary offences in Dartford
and across Kent as a whole. He undertook to facilitate a meeting between
Kent Police and representatives of the Nepalese community in Dartford,
outside the Committee proceedings, to help address their concerns.
The Vice-Chairman added his own thanks to the District Commander for his
comments, and advised that he would be attending the next meeting of the
Independent Police Advisory Group (IPAC) at Bluewater on 27 February and
would raise the topic in that forum also.
Members agreed; in response to a proposal from the Borough Commander;
that the Committee would consider Kent Police’s further refinements to their
‘Safer Streets’ policy for Dartford later in the proceedings, within the overall
context of ‘Offences of Violence’ - as set out in the 2018 Strategic
Assessment [Item 12 and EXEMP Item A refers].
25.

KENT & MEDWAY GANGS STRATEGY AND COUNTY LINES
Members received a joint Kent Police /Dartford Council presentation from the
Community Safety Manager (CSM) entitled - Kent and Medway Gangs
Strategy and County Lines. The PowerPoint material covered the following
principal areas:






National Picture
Gangs
Signs, Risks and Vulnerabilities
Kent and Medway Strategy
How Dartford is Responding

Spread of City Gangs and County Lines
Members were given details of how so called ‘county lines’ operations had
spread out North, South, East and West from the Metropolis into the Home
Counties. The overall number of London Gangs was believed to have
reduced from 230 down to 180 with an overall gang membership of some
3,000 individuals. ‘County lines’ activity appeared to operate across most of
Kent. Dartford was not a ‘hotspot’ but had its issues.
Definition of a Gang
Members were advised that the Home Office (HO) defined a group of people
involved in violence as a gang if they consisted of 3 or more people and had

8

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
one or more characteristics that enabled its members to be identified by
others.
Kent Police refined the HO gang definition further, by recognising a distinction
between:




Organised criminal gangs associated with level 2 criminality [Kent,
Surrey and Sussex];
Gangs maintaining ‘drug lines’ across the county of Kent;
Those who have a more nebulous link to gangs and a ‘youth culture’
based on a ‘tag line’ or postcode affiliation.

The activities of the second and third categories listed above, in particular,
exhibited a potent form of Child Criminal Exploitation.
Gang Structure
Gangs could be broken down into the following tiered structure:





Highest Tier – the ‘Elder’ or ‘Boss’ who often owned their own
business for laundering drugs and money with average daily turnover
of £3K upwards;
Middle Tier – ‘Shotters’ or ‘Generals’ who were the main enforcers in a
gang, researched new areas for drug demand, organised recruitment,
supervised the lower tier and crossed ‘county lines’ during their
activities;
Lower Tier- ‘Wrappers’ were back room staff who prepared Class A
drugs for sale. ‘Youngers’ (including kids) carried knives and committed
street robberies. The most vulnerable ‘Youngers’ usually looked after
the younger children on a ‘gang family’ basis. New recruits entered the
gang family at this level.

Safeguarding – National Issue






The age of children now dealing on behalf of gangs was getting
progressively younger;
As a consequence education around gangs was being targeted at a
younger audience and age-group;
The backgrounds of those being recruited to gangs showed that
youths, early school-age teenagers and even younger children were all
easy targets. Children from single parent families or with a parent who
was a drug user were also particularly susceptible to recruitment, and
attracted by the gang as a role model;
Younger children [pre-Secondary school age] were being increasingly
recruited by gangs because they were harder for the authorities to
identify and re-educate.

9

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
Members were shown two short hard-hitting video excerpts, featuring real
gang members being interviewed [with their features hidden] talking about the
reality of their existence as gang members. The difficulties [in terms of
detection] that the recruitment of increasingly younger gang members posed
for the local and national authorities was highlighted by one interviewee.
Cuckooing
County Line drug dealing is the practice of metropolitan crime gangs
supplying drugs outside London to dealers in the Home Counties. Cuckooing
is the practice whereby dealers take over the home of a vulnerable person in
order to use it as a base for drug dealing. Such cuckooed addresses
represent a significant risk to the individuals being cuckooed and the wider
community. Signs of this practice include:





Individuals taking over a vulnerable person’s address;
Vulnerable people being threatened or coerced into co-operating;
Frequent high numbers of visitors to the address;
Signs of drug misuse at the address including deal bags and weighing
scales;
 Individuals displaying large amounts of cash and having multiple
mobile phones.
People in the social housing market were the most vulnerable to this gang
activity and the Council’s Housing Department liaised closely with the
Community Safety Unit and Kent Police to prevent such Cuckooing operations
in the Borough.
Kent and Medway Gangs Strategy 2018-2021 - Approach to Ending the
Criminal Exploitation of Vulnerable Children and Adults by Gangs
The Vision
 To protect and prevent young people from becoming involved with
gangs, to tackle gang-related harm and youth violence, to pursue
effective enforcement action to deal with those embroiled in gang
activities;
 Approached by working together collaboratively across Kent & Medway
local agency partnerships, to achieve the key objectives that have
been identified as central to driving this vision.
Action Plan – District Involvement



To undertake multi-agency ‘problem profiling’ of gangs and gang
nominal and associates operating in Kent & Medway;
To drawing on the learning experiences of the Margate Taskforce geomapping and peer group analysis approach to obtain a more
comprehensive and sophisticated understanding of where and how
gangs operated in the County in order to better target resources and
10

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019




channel collective energies to tackle this issue for both vulnerable
children and adults;
To provide individuals at risk of gang involvement and their families
with focussed support and wrap-around services to dissuade them
from entering into gangs and criminal groups;
To Work across the tiers of local government to use all available
powers to create and manage public spaces and discourage gang
congregation.

Members were advised that Dartford was not a ‘trail-blazer’ in terms of County
Line activity in Kent. Thanet had been the first major location for such activity
in the county with lessons to be learnt from that local authority’s experience,
and how it had addressed the issue with early help from, and liaison with,
London Boroughs and the Kent and Metropolitan Police Forces.
In addition to drawing on KCC’s Safeguarding policy, Dartford worked closely
with Kent Police and held a seat on KCC’s Serious Youth Crime Reduction
Group, through Councillor Ann Allen as a Kent Member and Dartford Cabinet
Portfolio Holder for Community Development.
Dartford contribution to Objectives of Kent & Medway Plan
Prepare




To create and manage public spaces to discourage gang congregation
and associated anti-social behaviour (ASB) through: Dartford’s CCTV
operation; DTAC (Dartford Town Against Crime) network managed
through the CSU to provide local retailers and traders with Intel and
support; Town Centre Design by the Council benefited from key Intel
input from the CSU;
To create a shared understanding of gangs across the local
Partnership (D&G CSP) and develop a common language and
approach to that work through: expert CCTV operator training funded
by the Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC); developing the Dartford
Serious Youth Violence Group; continued staff training in the field.

Pursue


Drive towards effective enforcement and offender management to deal
with individuals involved in gangs who refuse to reform including:
enforcement of the Night-Time economy, use of the Housing Act,
Community Protection procedures; and Policing Operations and
Initiatives.

Prevent


Strengthen early intervention and prevention work to stop young
people becoming involved with gangs early on, and dissuade those on
the cusp of becoming drawn into gang activity – primarily through
11

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
improvements in the sharing of information including: Police input into
schools, working with the St. Giles Trust and NatWest as a ‘community
banker’, Head Teacher education, Youth Hubs, Kent Serious Youth
Violence Crime scheme and Kent Police Dartford Youth Engagement
Officer.
Protect


Develop support pathways to help young people out of gangs and
violent behaviour including: the Challenge scheme – intensive and
costly but the CSO was producing good early results; attendance at
Adolescent Risk Management Panel (ARM) meetings and Integrated
Offender Management (IOM) meetings; through the Vulnerability
Forum, a multi-agency operation co-ordinated via the Kent Police CSU
Inspector, with the CSO attending London Borough meetings; CrossBorder Liaison.

In response to subsequent individual questions from Members the CSM
confirmed the following points:





The Vulnerability Forum had no matrix of activity in Dartford, or profile
of gang members. However, work was being undertaken by reformed
gang members to provide current offenders with positive male role
models;
Cuckooing was not prevalent in Dartford;
The CSO was liaising with London authorities over their gang profiles
and the nature of their County Line operations including any
implications for Dartford.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development advised Members
that the Local Children’s Partnership Board was undertaking excellent work in
Dartford. Dartford’s Youth Council was also undertaking a vital and effective
role in getting young people to talk to each other and she paid particular
praise to the work being undertaken by the CSU and Kent Police to educate
young people to the dangers of gang activity and involvement.
The Chairman and Members thanked the CSM for an excellent presentation
and his positive responses to their questions, and noted the excellent work
being undertaken by the CSO.
26.

COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2019-20 AND BEYOND
RESOLVED:
1. That Members approve the contents for the Committee’s rolling Work
Programme for the 2019-20 municipal year and beyond, as set out in
Appendix A to the report [agenda pages 47-48 refer].

12

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
27.

NEXT MEETING
Members were advised that the next meeting of the Committee in the
forthcoming 2019-20 municipal year would take place on Wednesday 24 July
2019 - subject to confirmation at the Annual Meeting on 22 May.

28.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
The Chairman advised that, in accordance with Section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972 (as amended); he was required to ask that any
member(s) of the press and public present vacate the Council Chamber prior
to consideration of the next item - Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety
Partnership (CSP) Strategic Assessment 2018 [Item A in the EXEMPT
agenda papers].
Following the departure of a representative of the Press, the Committee
continued their discussions in closed session.

29.

DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM DRAFT COMMUNITY
PARTNERSHIP (CSP) STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT 2018

SAFETY

The Community Safety Manager (CSM) advised Members that despite the
annual Strategic Assessment 2018 being marked as a draft document [Item A
in the EXEMPT agenda papers refers]; it had been agreed by the CSP at their
meeting on 17 January 2019 (subject to minor amendments) and that no
further changes to the document before them were possible.
He reminded that the Strategic Assessment (SA) exercise was conducted
annually, but that the 2018 SA was particularly significant, as it formed the
first stage of the decision making process to formulate the new three-year
Community Safety Strategy to guide the Partnership’s work between April
2019 and March 2022.
The views and perceptions of local people were recognised as being
important to achieving long-term change, and priorities emerging from the
2018 SA would be subject to public consultation prior to them forming the
base building-block for the Community Safety Strategy (2019-2022).
The 2018 SA was also significant in that the data it contained was deemed to
be consistent with the current Home Office crime categories, and the statistics
compiled by Kent Police conformed to Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary (HMIC) standards and, as a consequence, the SA 2018 figures
would be used by the CSP for comparative analysis purposes, year-on-year,
going forward.
The CSM raised the following detailed points with Members in relation to the
2018 SA:
Total Crime 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018
13

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
 Total Crime in Dartford for the period under review [agenda p.56] was
13,310 offences amounting to 123.4 offences per 1,000 of the
population, slightly higher than the Kent-wide average of 107.7
offences;
 Violent Crime in Dartford had also increased, and was above the Kent
average due in part to the impact of changes to national crime
recording practices, but was nevertheless a concern for the CSP.
Members were reassured that 50% of crimes categorised as violent
did not result in actual injury to a person. The CSM outlined for
Members the principal hotspots for such crime in the Borough;
 Domestic Abuse (DA) cases had risen sharply in the year under
review, again due in part to changes in recording practices, whereby
each historic offense disclosed involving the same victim and
perpetrator, was now recorded as a separate crime. Funding from the
Home Office Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG)
Transformation Fund, to deliver the ‘Altogether Safer Project’ across
the Dartford and Gravesham CSP in the current 3 year cycle, had
been increased by £19K in 2018 to extend the ‘Out of Hours’ Service
and strengthen ‘Choose Respect’ work;
 Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) had seen a significant reduction. In
Dartford incidents of ASB recorded by Kent Police had decreased by
26.7% with the work of the Community Wardens and the CSO making
a real impact both in the Town Centre and the Parishes. This trend
was reflected across Kent, although the decrease in Dartford was
greater than that seen elsewhere in Kent. A drop in the number of
repeat offenders was seen as particularly positive. There had also
been a significant drop in deliberate fires (arson) in Dartford;
 Fly-tipping Dartford Council reported all incidences of fly-tipping and
would continue to do so as a priority;
 Reducing Offending and Reoffending [agenda p.52]: the focus within
this priority would be the disruption of serious and organised crime
and preventing and reducing Youth reoffending (with an emphasis on
gang-related activity). The CSP would draw-up a 3 year plan to
address the issue, but funding would be key to its success.
 Serious Organised Crime – Youth reoffending [agenda p.69]:
deterring young people from becoming involved in crime and
preventing Youth reoffending was key to reducing crime in the longterm, with the CSO playing the lead role within Dartford CSU. The
work relied upon intelligence from various sources and the
partnership working between the Council, Kent Police, the County
Council and other local authorities was explained to Members, as
were the constraints of resource and funding. Kent Police’s Youth
Engagement Officer for Dartford played a key role inter-acting with
local young people via relevant groups and by visiting both primary
and secondary schools, liaising with Head teachers to offer advice
and guidance using the ‘Stay Safe’ programme at school, both in the
community and on-line. The Youth Engagement Officer liaised closely
with the CSO in Dartford CSU and Councillor Ann Allen, in her role as
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development. Strong ties had
14

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
also been developed with the Police Cadets and the Duke of
Edinburgh Award Scheme. Cross-border cooperation with the
Metropolitan Police was well developed, especially useful over pupils
from London attending Dartford schools. Links had also been
established with other Youth Engagement Officers across Kent.
The District Commander then addressed Members. He advised that the
recent spike in burglaries in Dartford was currently subject to increased
operational activity by Kent Police [Min. No. 24 refers], and that his review of
Dartford’s Safer Streets policy had been re-invigorated since his last update to
the Committee in July 2018.
The CSU Inspector outlined for Members the operational impact of ‘Safer
Streets’, provided details of current activity, and confirmed that Kent Police
had good intelligence and a strategy in place to react to any future spikes of
anti-social behaviour in the Night-Time economy.
The District Commander advised that the recruitment of new Police
constables was underway and numbers would increase on the ground in
Dartford following training. He also praised the key nature of the combined
Police and Council operation in Dartford CSU, which he believed was unique
across Kent and the bench-mark for other authorities to reach. Inter-face with
Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham Councils were effective, and best practice
was shared with Gravesham CSU and other partners within the CSP.
The CSM concluded the presentation by referring Members to page 38 of the
2018 SA [agenda p.86] which addressed the CSP priority of ‘Protecting
Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities’. Mental health issues,
homelessness and vulnerable adults were key issues which demanded
effective co-operation and co-ordination across all agencies in the Partnership
both to help the individuals concerned – the CSU mantra of ‘individuals make
a difference’ and strengthened the Dartford and Gravesham communities as a
consequence.
He confirmed that the next step was for the priorities from the 2018 SA to be
subject to a public survey, prior to their incorporation into the Partnership’s
2019-2022 Community Safety Strategy, and 2019 Action Plan.
Members commended the 2018 Strategic Assessment (SA) document, the
Council’s efforts to address fly tipping in particular, and Kent Police’s targeted
operation to address the ‘spike’ in burglary in the Borough, and suggested
that such ‘good news’ stories needed to receive greater publicity, to help
inform and re-assure the public. Concern was however expressed over the
perceived targeting of Asian families by burglars.
The District Commander advised Members that the current pro-active Police
operation contained an element to address this. In response to a request from
the Vice-Chairman, the District Commander undertook to strengthen contact
with the Sikh Temple and community in Dartford.
15

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
In response to Member concern regarding road safety, particularly around
Dartford’s schools, the EARS & CSU Manager advised the Committee that
the Leader’s cross-party Working Group on Road Safety had targeted
improved road safety around schools as a particular priority, including
dialogue with the schools and local residents. The Council’s School Safety
Van had issued 126 penalty charge notices in the period 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2018 for motorists [primarily parents] parking on zig-zag lines
outside schools. TTROs (Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders) were used to
address vehicles parked on footpaths around schools, penalising parking on
yellow lines was more difficult to enforce effectively. Overall, the Council ran
an effective enforcement operation to educate motorists, with particular
success in the last 2 years following a re-structure of the Service, against a
backdrop of increases in population, car use and pupil intake at Dartford
schools.
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development advised Members
that the Leader’s Working Group was running a pilot scheme at 7 schools in
Dartford to address road safety concerns. Poor parking by a minority of
parents was a major factor for enforcement officers and changing the mindset of parents in this respect was a key target. Measures being adopted were
parental agreements between parents and schools, and the naming and
shaming of offenders. However, children of offending parents could not be
prevented from attending a school.
Head teachers had a key role to play in addressing road safety issues around
their schools. Recruiting the support of local businesses (especially fast-food
retailers) was another key element, encouraging more walking to school, and
using different entrances to schools to help prevent traffic congestion and
parking were other measures being encouraged. However, poor parental
attitude remained the major obstacle to improved road safety around schools
in Dartford. It was proposed that the Minutes of the Leader’s Working Group
be passed to the Joint Transportation Board (JTB) for consideration in future.
A Member asked what impact Dartford’s connection to the greater South-East
rail network (via Dartford and Ebbsfleet International stations) had on levels of
crime in the Borough, and whether the British Transport Police (BTP)
contributed to the crime statistics compiled annually by the CSP, and if not
should such input be sought.
The CSM advised that the CSP’s crime statistics were compiled solely by
Kent Police. He further advised that the BTP were not a statutory partner in
the CSP but had been invited to attend CSU and CSP meetings in the past; to
address the acknowledged problem of apprehending Metropolitan and other
criminal’s resident elsewhere in Kent; who committed offences in Dartford and
used the rail network to escape apprehension. BTP attendance at those
meetings had been intermittent, but CCTV coverage at both stations was
good and an effective aid to bringing successful prosecutions.

16

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2019
The Chairman and Members thanked the CSM for presenting the CSP’s 2018
Strategic Assessment, and all attending Officers and Kent Police guests for
responding positively to Members’ concerns.
RESOLVED:
1. That Members note the contents of the Dartford and Gravesham
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Draft Strategic Assessment 2018
document [Item A in the EXEMPT agenda papers];
2. That Members note the priorities identified in the Draft Strategic
Assessment 2018, subject to the amendments proposed by the CSP at
their meeting on 17 January 2019;
3. That Members note the CSP’s intention to submit a new Community
Safety Strategy (2019-2022) document to address the priorities
identified in the Draft Strategic Assessment 2018;
4. That the Community Safety Strategy (2019-2022) be submitted to the
next meeting of the Committee on 24 July 2019.

The meeting closed at 9.40 pm
Councillor R J Wells
CHAIRMAN

17

14 June 2019 - 31 October 2019
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE
This document lists all key decisions due to be taken in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.
Cabinet Members:
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Housing
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Youth, Health & Wellbeing
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Waste & Environment
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.
This notice supersedes all previous notices.

1 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE
DECIDED

DATE OF
CABINET/GAC
MEETING OR
PERIOD WITHIN
WHICH THE
DECISION WILL
BE TAKEN AND
BY WHOM

Housing Benefit Overpayment
Write-offs

WHO IS TO BE
CONSULTED BEFORE
TAKING THE
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED
(if closed the
reason is specified)

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if
reference needs to
be made to the
Appendix to this
report, which is
exempt under
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of
Schedule 12A of the
Local Government
Act 1972 (as
amended)

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if
reference needs to
be made to the
Appendix to this
report, which is
exempt under
Paragraph 3 of
Schedule 12A of the
Local Government
Act 1972 (as
amended)
CLOSED - if
reference needs to
be made to the
Appendix to this
report which is
exempt under
Paragraph 3 of
Schedule 12A of the
Local Government
Act 1972 (as
amended)

To consider writing-off Housing
Benefit overpayments where it has
not been possible to obtain payment,
where the Tribunals Service has
exercised its discretion not to
recover overpaid sums or where
recovery is not permissible under the
relevant Housing Benefit or Council
Tax Benefit Regulations.
Write-off of National NonDomestic Rates
To consider writing-off Non-Domestic
Rate debts where it has not been
possible to obtain payment because
of insolvency, because the ratepayer
cannot be traced or where the debt
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Write-off of Council Tax
To consider writing-off Council Tax
where it has not been possible to
obtain payment because of
insolvency, because the council tax
payer cannot be traced or where the
debt is otherwise irrecoverable.

2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE
DECIDED

DATE OF
CABINET/GAC
MEETING OR
PERIOD WITHIN
WHICH THE
DECISION WILL
BE TAKEN AND
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE
CONSULTED BEFORE
TAKING THE
DECISION AND HOW

3 of 3

BACKGROUND
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED
(if closed the
reason is specified)

This page is intentionally left blank

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT AND MEDWAY POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
MINUTES of a meeting of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel held in the
Council Chamber - Sessions House on Wednesday, 6 February 2019.
PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Mr Gurvinder Sandher (Vice-Chairman),
Mrs E Bolton, Cllr J Burden, Cllr M Conolly (Substitute for Cllr MJ Holloway, OBE),
Cllr M Dearden,
Mrs L Game,
Cllr F Gooch,
Ms S Hamilton,
Cllr A Horton,
Cllr J Knight, Cllr K Maskell (Substitute for Cllr P Fleming), Cllr H Tejan, Cllr P Todd
and Cllr R Wells
ALSO PRESENT: Mr M Scott (Kent Police and Crime Commissioner), Mr A Harper
(PCC's Chief of Staff) and Mr Robert Phillips (PCC's Chief Finance Officer)
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr J Cook (Scrutiny Research Officer) and Mrs A Taylor (Scrutiny
Research Officer)
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
304. Declarations of Interests by Members in Items on the Agenda for this
Meeting
(Item 3)
Cllrs Horton and Todd declared an interest as they were both in receipt of a Police
pension.
305. Minutes of the Police and Crime Panel held on 14 November 2018
(Item 4)
1.
The Commissioner updated Members on the follow up items raised at the last
meeting.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 14 November 2018 were a
correct record and that they be signed by the Chairman.
306. Draft refreshed 'Safer in Kent: The Community Safety and Criminal
Justice Plan' and Precept proposal for 2019/20
(Item B1)
1.
The Commissioner introduced the refreshed ‘Safer in Kent Plan’ and set out
the minor changes to the Plan.
2.
The Plan covered the period 2017-21, there had been minor wording changes
but the principles contained within the plan remained valid with strong ethics, integrity
and honesty.
3.
Members discussed the findings of the Annual Policing Survey, one member
raised concerns that the plan and its minor amendments did not reflect the results of
the public consultation. The Member asked the commissioner whether he intended a
1

major rewrite of the plan on its next review. The Commissioner considered that the
plan reflected what residents wanted to see action on, there was still a lot of
misunderstanding about Police funding and it was hoped that the plan would improve
future consultation responses and that people would feel like they were getting better
value for money.
4.
Referring to the question within the survey ‘Tell us one thing you think Kent
Police could do better’ a Member suggested that the response ‘Recruit more police
officers and/or deploy more visible patrols’ should be split into two responses, the
Commissioner confirmed that he would consider this for future surveys.
5.
In response to a question about what visible policing looked like in the modern
world the Commissioner explained that the aim of the recruitment drive was to go
back to police officers and PCSOs on the streets.
6.
In response to a comment about the types of crimes Kent Police were dealing
with the Commissioner explained that demands to policing had changed, there was
an Investigation Management Unit dealing with low level investigations along with
teams looking at areas such as Domestic Violence to try to improve levels of service.
Where Members were aware of areas of poor service the Commissioner encouraged
them to tell him to that he could ensure this was being looked at and if there were
wider issues, he could hold the Chief Constable to account.
7.
A Member raised the point of crime prevention and diversion and what was
available locally in terms of diversionary activities, the commissioner explained that
there was a commissioning strategy and he had given money to local councils to
enable them to make decisions about what was needed locally. The Safer in Kent
Fund funded local projects focusing on prevention and diversion. Nationally, the
Commissioner explained that during 2018 the Home Office had run an early
intervention youth fund and the Commissioner hoped to be able to make an
announcement next week about partnership work with the Home Office.
8.
In response to a comment the Commissioner confirmed that burglary
remained as one of his, and the Chief Constable’s, priorities.
A Member
congratulated the Commissioner on how policing was progressing in the county.
9.
The Commissioner referred to the precept and thanked his team who had
done an exceptional job in ensuring that the precept proposal was as accurate as
possible. He also thanked the Panel for their engagement at both formal and
informal meetings and other engagements. The Commissioner considered the Panel
meetings to be important and he felt supported whilst being challenged appropriately.
10.
The Commissioner had taken all feedback into consideration, and he thanked
all staff (including volunteers) working with Kent Police for the tremendous work
carried out to keep Kent safe, they were to be commended.
11.
Referring to the challenges to Kent Police there was continued increase in
pressure and demand, the Commissioner hoped that staff felt supported by his office.
It was evident that crime was changing, there was more focus on online crime with
more risks relating to vulnerable people, grooming, human trafficking, sexual
violence, stalking and domestic abuse which counted for 1 in 6 crimes recorded by

2

Kent Police. HMIC’s latest State of Policing report stated that policing was becoming
more complex.
12.
Demands on policing had also changed, there had been a huge increase in
calls relating to mental health issues and other vulnerabilities and missing persons.
There were greater requirements around safeguarding and crime recording. Police
staff were under pressure with police numbers falling every year from 2009 to 2016,
there were currently fewer police staff working in Kent Police than there were in 2009
and fewer PCSOs. This also had an impact on the welfare of Police staff with officers
taking time off for their own mental health and wellbeing.
13.
Kent was in receipt of the 7th lowest amount of funding per head of population
and in spite of all the challenges it was the only force in the country deemed
outstanding in legitimacy and was the best police force in the country for accuracy of
crime data with all other areas good or outstanding.
14.
The Commissioner explained that the Government had allowed PCCs the
flexibility to increase the police precept by up to £2 a month (Band D property).
Based on the demands outlined and with the support of residents the Commissioner
proposed to increase council tax by this maximum of £2 per month for a Band D
property. Kent Police would continue to make efficiencies with £9.7million savings
during the course of the next year. These combined would result in 180 additional
police officers in addition to those who left or retired.
15.
In response to a question about deployment the Commissioner confirmed that
this was a decision for the Chief Constable, however this had been discussed and
half of the new roles would be in local policing.
16.
Referring to the longer term the next Comprehensive Spending Review
needed to look at police funding, it was considered that the balance between central
and local police funding could not continue as it was currently.
17.
The Commissioner offered to facilitate any visits with Panel Members and
local policing teams who were doing a fantastic job.
18.
A Member asked whether the Commissioner was satisfied that the additional
funding should be spent on increasing police numbers and not for funding pension
liabilities for example, the Member also asked how sustainable the Commissioner’s
proposals were. The Commissioner explained that the strategic assessment of Kent
Police stated that capacity would need to be strengthened because of increasing
demand and an increase in areas of criminality. Referring to long term sustainability
the Commissioner had built a 2% increase into the budget for next year.
19.
Referring to preventative services a Member asked whether the Commissioner
had considered reducing the number of additional officers and using some of the
funding for Safer in Kent (SinK) Funding and putting money into local communities.
The Commissioner explained that although the SinK fund would not continue there
would be funding for preventative mechanisms in addition to money given to the Kent
Community Safety Partnership. The Violence Reduction Challenge would be holding
its final meeting on 13 February and the Commissioner would outline, in March, what
would be a significant investment in preventative work from within existing resources.

3

20.
A Member asked for more information on what the Commissioner meant by
visible policing, and the Commissioner explained that the Chief Constable’s intention
with the additional 180 officers was: 86 into town centre beat policing and proactive
community policing teams, 4 officers into the citizens and policing programme
working alongside the special constabulary and the volunteers. The remaining 90
would be going into the vulnerability investigation teams and the crime squad.
21.
In response to a query about running a publicity campaign alongside the
precept increase launch, there was a element of mistrust amongst the public, the
Commissioner was keen, if the Panel supported the increase, to communicate this
alongside the Council Tax bills if possible and timely and run an awareness
campaign on social media in the most cost effective and efficient way. The
Commissioner was reminded that many district councils were due to have elections
on 2 May and he should be mindful of the rules around Purdah.
22.
A Member referred to the 7% ‘other income’ referred to in the report, the
Commissioner explained that this referred to Kent Police re-charging from certain
areas such as firearms licencing.
23.
In response to a question the Commissioner confirmed that the precept would
fund 180 additional officers and 15 police staff. Regarding the welfare and mental
health of Police Officers the Commissioner explained that he hoped that increasing
the numbers of staff sent a strong message and reduced pressure on existing officers
meaning that victims still got a good service and freed up some officers to undertake
more proactive work. The Commissioner outlined some of the ways in which staff
were supported and given guidance.
24.
In response to a question the Commissioner explained that he had taken on
board all feedback and comments made through a poll on the Commissioner’s
website as well as a poll made on the Kent online website.
The Commissioner
would continue to hold regular meetings to challenge the Chief Constable on the
effect of the additional officers.
25.
Members congratulated the Commissioner on the cadets scheme, young
people were being drawn from a wide variety of backgrounds and this was very
successful.
26.
The Chairman confirmed that he was happy to support the Commissioner’s
plan and precept and he congratulated the Commissioner on behalf of the Panel on
the high quality of work from Kent Police.
27.
The Clerk confirmed that the Panel would submit a formal report to the
Commissioner confirming their support of the plan and precept, the Panel delegated
the drafting and approval of this report to the officers and Chairman/Vice-Chairman.
RESOLVED that the Panel support the Commissioner’s refreshed Safer in Kent Plan
and approve the accompanying precept.
307. Crime Data Integrity
(Item C1)

4

1.
The Commissioner introduced the Crime Data Integrity report which updated
Members on Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services
(HMICFRS) most recent re-inspection of Crime Data Integrity.
2.
The Commissioner explained that there were minor areas which needed to be
addressed and he received weekly 1:1 briefings from the Chief Constable.
3.
The Chairman congratulated the Commissioner and the Force on the good
news and their swift and effective action.
RESOLVED that the Commissioner and Kent Police be congratulated on the
excellent inspection report received from HMICFRS.
308. Mental Health - verbal update
(Item C2)
1.
The Commissioner gave the Panel an update regarding Police involvement in
mental health issues. He was grateful to the Panel for their continued interest in the
mental health agenda.
2.
The Commissioner had commissioned Victim Support to better understand
how people with mental health issues were supported through the criminal justice
system and the findings and recommendations of this work were scheduled to be
available in March with a report in May.
3.
In December the Commissioner had attended the launch of the independent
review of the Mental Health Act. The recommendations that the Commissioner made
to the review had been incorporated, one pertinent recommendation was that police
cells should no longer be used as a place of safety for anyone, by 2023/24. The
preferred place of safety was defined as a health-based place of safety or a S136
suite.
4.
Following a review of the Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat Governance
Arrangements it was agreed that the current Mental Health and Policing Oversight
Board would be refreshed to become the strategic decision-making body for Kent and
Medway.
5.
The Commissioner offered congratulations to Sevenoaks District Council on
the opening of their Mental Health Crisis drop in centre. The Commissioner had also
chaired a new group with the national police chiefs and national fire chiefs council
amongst other bodies to improve performance across country.
6.
A Member commented that mental health was not mentioned anywhere in the
public survey. Was there a variance between the effect of mental health issues and
public perception? The Commissioner explained that there was not enough public
awareness of how much police time was spent tackling mental health. In raising
awareness, the Commissioner aimed to inform people to phone the crisis team or
101 rather than come to the police.
7.
Members discussed the use of the Armed Services Covenant Champion, and
the mental health of veterans. The Commissioner explained that when veterans
came to the attention of the police it was sometimes through police custody. Kent
5

Police had an agreement with SSAFA, a charity which supported members of the
armed forces. If someone was identified as a veteran, they would have the support
of the charity and a dedicated case worker. There was further collaboration which
could be looked at with the network of armed forces champions and the OPCC role in
policing and the Mental Health Oversight Board.
8.
A Member asked whether Police Officers were reporting increased mental
health problems as a result of the pressure they were under. The Commissioner
confirmed that PTSD, stress, depression, anxiety were all issues, in the last 5 years 4
out of 5 officers out of work took time off because of mental health rather than
physical health.
RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioners Mental Health verbal update.
309. Brexit - verbal update
(Item C3)
1.
The Commissioner provided the Panel will an update on preparations for
leaving the EU. The Commissioner received regular updates from the Assistant
Chief Constable and the Chief Constable about local progression, particularly around
roads and the OPCC was also represented at some of the local meetings. The
OPCC engaged with KCC and DDC regarding the Brexit Task Force and the
Commissioner had visited the Calais border. Some additional funding had been
secured, £850k had been received to pay for costs incurred for contingency planning.
The key principle was that the Government was willing to ensure that Kent Police and
Kent Council Tax payers were not left out of pocket over the decision to leave the
EU.
2.
The Commissioner was working nationally, the Association of Police and
Crime Commissioners established a cross party Brexit working group which had met
with the Home Secretary.
3.
A Member asked about plans for coping with the number of domestic cars
travelling through the channel tunnel and on the M20. The Commissioner explained
that there had been work done to determine issues around heavy goods vehicles
coming into the county. He was not aware that there was a substantial issue
regarding domestic vehicles, but he would look into this, particularly with reference to
the Channel Tunnel link.
4.
Members referred to the huge resource required if vehicles had to be moved
around the county, the Commissioner explained that those considerations had been
put into plans and the mutual aid would sit with the national police coordinator.
5.
The Chairman summarised and stressed the importance of partners working
together post Brexit.
RESOLVED that the Panel note the Commissioner’s Brexit verbal update.
310. Panel Annual Report
(Item D1)

6

1.
A Member commented that the informal meeting to review the effectiveness of
the Panel held in 2018 was useful and it was hoped that this would be repeated.
RESOLVED that the Panel’s Annual Report be approved.
311. Future work programme
(Item D2)
RESOLVED that the Panel note the future work programme.

7

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
24th July 2019

DARTFORD TOWN AGAINST CRIME (D-TAC) PROGRESS REPORTJULY 2018- JULY 2019)
1.

Summary
1. To consider the Dartford Town against Crime’s scheme’s progress during the
past 12 months (1st July 2018 to 1st July 2019).
2. RECOMMENDATION
That the achievements of the Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) scheme
in the period under review, be noted.
3. Background and Discussion
3.1

Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) promotes the concept of a safe
and secure Town Centre, and enables partners to adopt a proactive
approach by allowing them to identify, target and focus on the most
serious, prolific and professional criminals as well as those offenders
who are engaging in petty crime and anti-social behaviour that
nonetheless affects the local environment.

3.2

D-TAC is a sub-group of both the Dartford Town Centre Partnership and
the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership. However,
the initiative has robust, independent governance with a formal
constitution, terms of reference, a Board of Management and an active
Steering Group. The Intelligence Manager co-ordinates the
dissemination of information and promotes activity that will result in
action being taken against persistent offenders.
This network of partners also facilitates:









3.3

preventing and detecting crime and public disorder;
targeting persistent offenders who are responsible for the majority
of crime;
reducing the opportunity to commit crime;
assisting the apprehension and prosecution of offenders;
reducing retail crime losses for members;
creating a “safe and secure” environment for customers and staff;
reducing the fear of crime amongst the general public;
encouraging growth and investment in the town centre;

The objectives outlined in the 2016 – 18 Business Plan have been made
and include:


Installing the infrastructure required for Borough wide coverage
which in turn facilitates membership growth and reinforces the
Council’s emergency plans;

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
24th July 2019



Increases in the number of people reporting crime through DISC
(the Secure Information Sharing System used by the partnership);
Radio Training, Counter Terrorism Training and Conflict
Management Training

3.4

The previous Intelligence Manager resigned from the post in December
2018. Members are asked to note his outstanding contribution to the
scheme during his three year tenure. His departure unfortunately led to
a period of 5 months without a co-ordinator which has inevitably
interrupted progress

3.5

His replacement commenced in the role in May 2019 and has
established 6 priorities which she is currently working to;
 Re -establishing a robust radio network across the Borough;
 Personalising current NABCP (National Association Business;
Crime Partnership) national forms for distribution to members
to include the Data Protection Act 2018 requirements;
 Striving to achieve NABCP accreditation;
 Refreshing the Business Plan;
 Increasing membership; and
 Improving effective partnership working within the Town
Centre

4.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour.

5.

Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications

None arising from this report

Legal Implications

None arising from this report

Staffing Implications

None arising from this report

Administrative
Implications

None arising from this report

Risk Assessment

Any reduction or withdrawal of service would
have a negative impact on crime and disorder
within the Borough.

6.

Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable
7.

Appendices – None

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
24th July 2019
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

July 2019

Tony Henley
(01322) 343502

Section and
Directorate

EARS

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE
24 July 2019
COMMUNITY SAFETY PERFORMANCE REPORT

1. SUMMARY
To note the Quarterly Performance Report produced by the Dartford & Gravesham
Community Safety Partnership.
2. RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee notes the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s
Quarterly Performance Report (July 2019), detailing performance in relation to levels of
crime, anti-social behaviour and other indicators, at Item A in the EXEMPT papers, in
the exempt part of the agenda.

3. Background and Discussion
3.1

The Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s (CSP)
Performance Report - July 2019, at Item A in the EXEMPT papers,
details performance in relation to levels of crime & disorder and antisocial behaviour recorded in the boroughs of Dartford and Gravesham.
The Performance Report was discussed by the CSP on 18th July 2019.

3.2

This is the first performance report since the introduction of the new
Community Safety Strategy and has a number of different elements that
focus on both qualitative and quantitative elements of the CSP’s
performance. The indicators for the new strategy aspire to refer to data
from a number of agencies. There is however no standard dataset to
which Community Safety Unit (CSU) officers can refer to obtain the
information and therefore have to make individual enquiries with partner
agencies to obtain it. This means that some of the information is still to
be sourced and collated, so not all the aspects of the CSP’s performance
are reflected in this initial document. Collection of quantitative data
always proves problematic, more so in recent times when a number of
agencies have reduced their analytical function. However work is
ongoing to both capture and disseminate data that will provide relevant
indication as the levels of performance being achieved by the CSP.

3.3

Members are invited to note the Quarterly Performance Report.
Representatives of the CSU and Kent Police will be available to respond
to Members’ questions.

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE
24 July 2019
4.

Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour.

5.

Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments

Financial Implications

None arising from this report

Legal Implications

None specifically

Staffing Implications

None arising from this report

Administrative
Implications

None arising from this report

Risk Assessment

Any reduction or withdrawal of service would
have a negative impact on crime and disorder
within the Borough.

6.

Obligation of Confidence
An obligation of confidence arises in relation to the information contained
within Appendix A to this report in that the data was provided to the
Council on an ‘In-Confidence’ basis. Appendix A will therefore be
considered in the EXEMPT part of the Agenda marked as Item A.

7.

Appendices
Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s Quarterly
Performance Report (July 2019) –Appendix A EXEMPT
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

July2019

Tony Henley,
Community Safety
Manager

EARS
Strategic
(ES)

Obligation
of
Confidence

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE
24 July 2019
DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY (2019-22)

1. Summary
To present the new Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022.
2. RECOMMENDATION
That the Committee considers and comments accordingly, on the Dartford and
Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019 – 2022, at Appendix A to the report
and the “Plan on Page” at Appendix B.
3. Background and Discussion
3.1

Legislation requires each Community Safety Partnership (CSP) to
produce a Crime and Disorder Strategy which runs for 3 years with an
annual refresh in the intervening period. The Community Safety
Strategy guides the work of all CSP partner agencies and ensures that
the focus on the CSP’s agreed priorities is maintained.

3.2

The Committee, at its meeting in February 2019, considered the CSP‘s
Strategic Assessment 2019 [Min.No.29 refers].
This Strategic
Assessment provided the information and analysis of data which
suggested the priorities to be included within the Dartford and
Gravesham Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022 (attached at
Appendix A to this report).

3.3

The priorities identified, together with views expressed by partner
agencies, elected Members and the public, have been taken forward in
the Community Safety Strategy for the period 2019 – 2022.

3.4

This year (2019) the CSP has produced a quick reference or “plan on a
page” (Appendix B attached) to make the contents of the Community
Safety Strategy 2019-2022 easier to access.

3.5

Members are invited to consider the Community Safety Strategy 20192022 and comment accordingly. Officers and representatives of Kent
Police will be available to respond to Members’ questions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Safer Communities – To create a safer Borough in which to live, work
and socialise. SC2 – Reduce anti-social behaviour.
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE
24 July 2019
Financial Implications

None arising from this report

Legal Implications

None specifically

Staffing Implications

None arising from this report

Administrative
Implications

None arising from this report

Risk Assessment

Any reduction or withdrawal of service would
have a negative impact on crime and disorder
within the Borough.

6.

Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

7.

Appendices
Appendix A: Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Strategy
2019 – 2022;
Appendix B: ‘Plan on a Page‘
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section and
Directorate

July 2019

Tony Henley
(01322 343502)

EARS
Strategic
(ES)

Kath Donald

Gravesham
CSU
(Strategic
Manager)

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

20192022

Dartford and
Gravesham
Community Safety
Strategy

Produced by Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership
1

Introduction
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is made up of statutory agencies brought
together under a shared responsibility placed upon them by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. The Act has
been amended over the years since its introduction to include responsibilities to not only reduce crime but
to tackle anti-social behaviour (ASB), recognising that this can have a considerable impact on local
communities, and to lessen the reoffending of those who repeatedly commit crime.
Key statutory partners have all faced reductions in expenditure and resources at a time when statutory
requirements placed on Partnerships have increased and the community safety landscape is changing.
Certain strands of criminal activity that have become national are challenging but the Partnership will aim to
extend its joint working to bring in the relevant expertise and skills to help us tackle them, as well as
addressing our local priorities. We will ensure that our progress is monitored closely throughout the life of
this strategy, with a full review at the end of each year to enable us to respond appropriately and effectively
to changing circumstances.

Our Partnership
Dartford and Gravesham CSP has a strong track record of achievement in reducing crime and ASB and
improving community safety locally. This has only been possible because of the excellent working
relationship between the specified authorities that make up the Partnership. Currently these are:









Kent County Council;
Dartford Borough Council;
Gravesham Borough Council;
Kent Police;
Kent Fire and Rescue Service;
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group;
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company;
Office of the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner.

These agencies all have a statutory duty to work together to tackle crime and disorder however, very
significant contributions are made to Partnership activities by a host of voluntary and private sector groups,
charitable organisations and local community groups, without which our ability to tackle community safety
priorities would be much more restricted. Each year the CSP has a legal duty to complete a Strategic
Assessment of the levels of crime and ASB being experienced in our two Boroughs. The purpose of the
Assessment is to:


determine whether priorities remain the same or whether there are new priorities to address;



highlight performance, progress and achievements against commitments made in the previous
Community Safety Plan; and,



identify key crime, disorder and ASB risks and threats to our local communities.

As part of moving forward and developing a new Community Safety Strategy, the Partnership has also taken
the opportunity to look back at recent successes which have laid the foundation for a number of initiatives,
some of which will need to continue to be developed over the next few years. The following highlights some
of our most recent key successes.
2

Key Partnership Successes
Violent Crime and Domestic Abuse
 Funding (£248,242 over 3 years to March 2020) secured from the Home Office Violence Against
Women and Girls (VAWG) Transformation Fund to deliver the Altogether Safer Project across
Dartford and Gravesham establishing an Out of Hours IDVA Service at North Kent Police Station;
delivering the Choose Respect Programme to boys and young men aged 11-18 years and working
with BAME and hard to reach victims to encourage accessing of services.
 Secured £137,880 from the MHCLG Domestic Abuse Services Fund to run the Step Change Project
(from early 2019) to provide intensive, wrap-around the family support to victims of domestic abuse
with complex needs and for 1:1 and group support for their children.
 Targeted work through each Borough’s multi-agency Vulnerability Forums to assist individuals with
complex needs who are particularly vulnerable to safeguard them from harm and support them in
accessing treatment services and accommodation.
 Making full use of both permanent and rapid deployment CCTV camera systems in town centres to
deter ASB and more serious offending behaviour, capture evidence and improve public safety.
 Established local multi-agency Serious Youth Violence and Exploitation Groups to develop effective
plans to provide interventions for young people identified as being involved or at risk of involvement
in criminal activity.
Anti-Social Behaviour (incorporating criminal damage related to ASB)
 Joint work between Dartford CSU and Kent Police to tackle ASB associated with street drinking to
encourage individuals into treatment and support services.
 Operation Ransom (Dartford) to address ASB caused by nuisance bikes through intelligence
gathering to identify the riders, messaging highlighting offences and impact on local communities
and through education delivered by the Youth Engagement PCSO.
 Support provided to the countywide operations and successful multi-agency action in Dartford to
address fly-tipping and environmental issues, targeting and using formal action against offenders.
 Creation of a Safer Place Officer Team based within Gravesham CSU to provide a visible uniformed
presence in the town centre, enforce the conditions of Gravesham’s Public Space Protection Order,
issue fines for littering and dog fouling and signpost homeless people to services.
 Interventions and enforcement action targeting adults and young people engaging in ASB to help
change and reduce the impact of their behaviour.
 Raising awareness of the dangers of fire raising and delivering fire safety messages.
Acquisitive and Property Crime
 Delivery of seasonal initiatives raising awareness and providing advice to the public on steps to take
to reduce the risk of burglary/guard against shed and garage breaks, motor vehicle crime and theft
e.g. Christmas Safety Shop, Safer Summer Campaigns.
 Use of G-Safe Exclusion Orders and D-TAC Community Protection Warning letters/Notices to deter
persistent shoplifters from entering member premises and ensuring that there is good
communication between both our Schemes and with other Schemes in the county to tackle crossborder offending.
 Joint work with KCC Wardens and Trading Standards to engage with and raise awareness of
residents/communities in areas where issues such as scams and distraction burglary are more
prevalent (e.g. elderly residents, residents affected by thefts of Asian gold).
Substance Misuse




Joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed premises in both Dartford and Gravesham
to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and to encourage the responsible sale of alcohol.
Referral of vulnerable individuals at risk of exploitation to local Vulnerability Groups to safeguard
them against harm e.g. risk of cuckooing of their property due to substance dependency, and share
intelligence to help bring offenders to justice.
Use of enforcement powers e.g. Criminal Behaviour Order, to take action against identified persistent
offenders engaging in ASB where their behaviour is alcohol-related.
3



Targeted outreach work delivered by KCC Youth Workers and The Gr@nd Project Youth Workers to
engage with young people at risk of drug-related ASB.
 Using G-Safe Exclusion Orders and D-TAC Community Protection Warning letters/Notices for those
individuals repeatedly involved alcohol or drug-related crime from member premises.
Serious and Organised Crime


Established multi-agency Organised Crime forums with a broad representation of agencies to share
intelligence/take joint action to disrupt Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) operating in our area.
 Joint work between CSUs and Early Help Teams to commission educational interventions to prevent
young people being drawn into gang and drug-related activity through 1:1 and group work.
 Working with the Metropolitan Police staff and London Boroughs to improve information sharing, to
identify young people who may live, socialise, go to school, or be living in care cross-border, to
protect them from harm and/or being drawn into gang-related or other serious criminal activity.
 Training delivered to partner agency representatives promote a better understanding of how OCGs
operate, key categories of SOC and identification of good practice.
 Publishing of Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statements to raise awareness and guard
against such activity presenting within local supply chains.
 Participation in the Kent and Medway Prevent Delivery Group and in Channel Panels following
referrals and awareness-raising amongst staff to mitigate against security risks.
Reducing Reoffending
 Joint working between partner agencies through the IOM process in order that potential issues that
could affect an individual about to be released can be identified early on and tailored interventions
developed to address factors influencing offending behaviour e.g. substance dependency.
 Joint work with KSS CRC and the use of Community Payback Teams in both Boroughs.
 Delivery of a restorative justice programme for young people, GLOW (led by G-Safe and KCC
Community Wardens) for first-time shoplifters (young people and adults).
 Targeted outreach youth work and programmes to engage with young people involved in repeat ASB
to change their behaviour and divert them into constructive activity e.g. Climbing Fit.
 Use of a range of enforcement powers e.g. Acceptable Behaviour Agreements, Community
Protection Warnings and Notices, Criminal Behaviour Orders, to prevent reoffending.
Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities
 Continued development and delivery of the No Space for Hate Campaign through joint work with The
Gr@nd Project and Youth Advisory Group, awareness raising sessions, a hate crime survey conducted
in schools and through community events.
 Successful bid to MCHLG Migration Fund for a Gravesham project, Altogether Stronger that includes:
i) a youth project to integrate and safeguard young people from harm; ii) delivery of music and food
cross-community events; iii) training and awareness raising on hate crime.
 Vulnerability Groups established to ensure that intelligence is fully shared regarding high risk of harm
individuals and multi-agency plans delivered to try to meet their needs.
 Second successful bid to MHCLG Migration Fund with London Borough of Havering acting as the Lead
Authority, partnered by Dartford, Gravesham and Bexley to provide access to the Origins Atlas
software system to develop our intelligence in respect of migration and community cohesion.
 Targeted work with women and girls from BAME backgrounds through the work of the Altogether
Safer VAWG Project with a focus on the development of peer support groups in each Borough.
 Councils continue to engage with emerging communities through the provision of publicly funded
cultural and community events such as local Festivals, various outdoor cinema and theatre shows,
Festival of Light, St. Georges Day Parade.
 Dartford Civil Enforcement Officers regularly attend schools in the school safety van at relevant
times to ensure adherence to safety measures such as zig-zag markings to reduce risks for school
children and their families.

4

Our New Objectives
How have we identified our objectives?
The Partnership has a statutory duty to produce an annual Strategic Assessment to measure our
performance towards meeting our CSP objectives in tackling our agreed community safety priorities. The
Assessment collates considerable information and data from a broad range of partner agencies, detailing
levels of crime and ASB that enables the CSP to consider the current position and any changing
circumstances or emerging issues that could necessitate different approaches or interventions.
Certain other considerations have been taken into account in addition to recorded figures and that have
helped to identify those areas of work that now form the priorities contained in this new Community Safety
Strategy 2019-2022. These considerations include:


Volume – level of offences as a proportion of total crime;



Level of harm – impact offences have on victims and communities;



Community concern – level of priority which local people would attribute to a particular offence;



Partnership added-value – extent to which multi-agency working can enhance the ability of agencies
to tackle a particular strand of offending behaviour;



Trend analysis – giving due consideration to patterns of increase in an offence type (where it is
possible to ascertain).

In addition, existing and emerging national priorities, legal obligations faced by CSPs, policing priorities
included in both the Kent Police Control Strategy and the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Policing and
Crime Plan, are also taken into account.
Public Opinion
The need for local people to be given an opportunity to voice their views and opinions is recognised as
crucially important in achieving long-term change and improving community safety. Whilst statistics can
provide a good foundation in identifying priorities, relying on them alone may result in issues that are key
concerns in local neighbourhoods being missed.
A public opinion survey was conducted between 18 February and 3 March 2019 which was made available
on both the Gravesham and Dartford Borough Council websites and via each Borough’s social media
platforms including Facebook, Instagram and Twitter. People who either live or work in Dartford or
Gravesham were invited to complete the survey which asked them to identify those community safety
issues that, in their experience, were of the greatest concern in their neighbourhood. A total of 420 people
responded – 299 (71.19%) of these either lived or worked in Gravesham and 121 (28.81%) of respondents
either lived or worked in Dartford.
Respondents were asked to select the single MOST important issue in their local area. 407 people
answered this question and the vast majority stated that ASB was their main concern – 163 (40.05% of all
respondents).

5

Single most important concern in local areas

8% 9%

Violence
Property crime

23%

Town centre safety

40%

ASB
Substance misuse

20%

Once people had identified what they felt was the most important issue in their area, they were also asked
to choose their top 3 concerns within that category with the following results:
Most Important Issue
ASB 163 respondents (40% of total)

Property crime 94 respondents (23%)

Town centre safety 80 respondents (20%)

Violence 37 (10%)

Substance misuse 33 (8%)

Top 3 issues within this category
Of 154 respondents to this question:
Fly-tipping 65 (42%)
Using/dealing drugs 62 (40%)
Noisy/rowdy behaviour 61 (39%)
Of 85 respondents to this question:
Residential burglary 81 (95%)
Shed/garage breaks 63 (74%)
Theft of motor vehicles 49 (57%)
Of 71 respondents to this question:
Groups gathering on the street 45 (63%)
Violence in the evening/NTE 43 (60%)
Public place violence 27 (38%)
Of 34 respondents to this question:
Youth violence 22 (65%)
Gun/knife crime 19 (56%)
Robbery 16 (47%)
Of 29 respondents to this question:
Drug dealing 24 (83%)
Class A drug use 17 (59%)
Cannabis use (45%)

Breakdown of respondents who completed the survey
Age from 342 responses %
18-24
3.5%
25-34
9.0%
35-44
14.5%
45-54

27.0%

55-64
65+
Not provided

27.0%
17.0%
2.0%

Ethnicity from 342 responses %
White British
88.0%
White Irish
2.5%
White Other
3.0%
White and Black
African
1.0%
Any other mixed
background
0.25%
Indian
1.0%
Bangladeshi
0.5%
Chinese
0.25%
Caribbean
0.25%
Other
0.25%
Not provided
3.0%

6

Gender from 342 responses %
Male
30.5%
Female
66.5%
Transgender
0.25%
Not provided

2.75%

Governance
The Partnership has been structured to ensure that the priorities in this Strategy can be effectively delivered
and that performance and progress is regularly monitored with appropriate checks and balances to keep our
work on track. As well as a joint overarching strategic group that brings together statutory agencies at a most
senior level, the Partnership has a number of Operational Groups that deliver projects on the ground. Each
Borough’s Community Safety Unit (CSU), carries out the day-to-day co-ordination of Partnership activity. The
positions of Chair and Vice-Chair of the Partnership are alternated between the two Councils’ Leaders or Lead
Member for Community Safety/Public Protection and senior officers representing strategic links to other
partnership boards provide co-ordination across the piece.

Partnership Organisational Structure
DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP (CSP)
CSP Executive Group

Dartford
Community Safety Unit

Gravesham
Community Safety Unit

Community Multi-Agency Risk
Assessment Conference
(Vulnerability Forum)

Vulnerability Forum

Vulnerability and Organised
Crime Panel

Dartford and Gravesham Serious
Youth Violence and Exploitation
Group

Serious Organised Crime
Group

Community Policing Team

North Kent Domestic Abuse
Forum

ASB Group

CSU Daily Briefings

Altogether Safer – Reducing
VAWG Project Group

CSU Daily Briefings

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Further Groups also contributing to the work of the Partnership include: G-Safe, D-TAC, Kent and Medway Prevent
Delivery Board and the Dartford and Gravesham Integrated Offender Management (IOM) Meeting.
7

Priority 1: Violent Crime including Domestic
Abuse
Why is this important?
Protecting people from harm has been identified as a priority because the Partnership recognises that
personal safety is paramount. Certain offences such as domestic abuse or sexual offences, are known to
suffer from under-reporting and significant Partnership work has taken place over a number of years to raise
awareness of services and assistance, particularly amongst hard to reach groups and encourage victims to
come forward. National and global attention to sexual violence and abuse has generated public debate and
this, together with a series of local initiatives that have been helping to fill gaps in services, have contributed
to increases in reports to Police and other agencies.
Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) is a national priority and considerable work is being undertaken
in Dartford and Gravesham through our Home Office funded, Altogether Safer, project. The project has
helped to provide the right services at the point of need, carried out work with boys and young men to help
break the cycle of VAWG and raised awareness within our local BAME community of support services to help
remove cultural barriers to access.
Whilst most serious violent offences remain rare, violent crime (offences of violence against the person,
sexual offences and robberies) still accounts for the greatest proportion of total crime in both Dartford and
Gravesham (over 40% in each area) and about a quarter of violent offences involve injury to the victim.
What is our focus?






To continue to raise awareness of VAWG in all its forms, to increase victim confidence to report and
seek specialist help;
To work in partnership with the Local Children’s Safeguarding Group to address violence committed
against children and young people;
To ensure that specialist support is available to victims of violence to see them through the justice
system to help increase the number of perpetrators brought to justice;
To safeguard vulnerable adults from the risk of harm;
To improve our intelligence picture of violence occurring in public places.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do?







Deliver the Altogether Safer Project, including the Out of Hours Police Station based Independent
Domestic Violence Advisor Service; the Choose Respect Programme to boys and young men aged 1118 years and hold the annual female-audience VAWG Listen to our Voices Conference to raise
awareness of factors affecting behaviour and influencing domestic abuse;
Work in partnership with Choices Domestic Abuse Services to deliver the Ministry of Housing
Communities and Local Government funded Step Change project to provide a wrap-around-thefamily service for victims of domestic abuse with complex needs and their children;
Ensure high-risk victims are effectively supported through the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment
Conference process;
Support victims of domestic abuse to remain in their own homes by providing increased home
security improvements through the Sanctuary scheme;
8



Work with Probation and law enforcement colleagues through offender management programmes
to moderate the behaviour of those involved in violent offending.

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy?








Reduction in violent crime (non-domestic) recorded in each Borough;
Increased accessing of services by victims of domestic abuse (particularly from BAME and other hard
to reach victims);
An increased awareness of the strands of VAWG and support services available;
Improvement in the detection rate of violence with injury offences (non-domestic);
Successful monitoring and behaviour change of known offenders through the Integrated Offender
Management Programme;
Sound intelligence picture of hot spot locations for violent offences in public places (non-domestic);
Reduction in violence with injury offences within hotspot locations and night-time economy areas.

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring







Number of domestic abuse reports to Police;
Number of domestic abuse victims accessing local services;
Rate of prosecutions of offenders of domestic abuse;
Number of violent offences recorded in each Borough;
Number of violence with injury offences in hotspot locations;
Number of serious violent offences.

9

Priority 2: Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour
and Environmental Crime
Why is this important?
Preventing and tackling persistent Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) is frequently identified as a key priority by local
communities because of the impact it has on quality of life within neighbourhoods. Within town centres,
ASB also has the ability to negatively impact local businesses and is particularly damaging to public
perceptions of local areas. Tackling ASB is resource-intensive and benefits significantly from multi-agency
working, particularly where the ASB is intrinsically linked to drug and alcohol misuse as well as fly-tipping - a
specific issue that effects both our rural and urban communities.
Although the Partnership identifies ASB as a key priority, both Dartford and Gravesham have seen significant
decreases in the recorded levels of ASB in the year ending 30 September 2018, which are mirrored across
the county. Dartford has seen a decrease of 26.7% of recorded ASB incidents and Gravesham had a decrease
of 22.3%. It is clear from our public consultation exercise that ASB still remains the primary community safety
concern for local people and therefore, the Partnership needs to continue to work towards reducing the
problems associated with ASB further.
Fly-tipping is seen as a key manifestation of ASB and potentially, a factor in crime and fear of crime and is
frequently linked to deliberate fire-setting. It has an adverse effect on the quality of life of local residents
and also affects economic development/tourism, making areas less attractive to potential investors and
visitors. Both Dartford and Gravesham Councils work with a range of agencies in taking enforcement action
against offenders whenever possible through both reactive investigations and proactive operations.
What is our focus?





To continue to reduce ASB incidents by taking a holistic approach in each case looking at any
underlining issues which need to be addressed;
To utilise the powers and legislation available to Councils and other partners to combat ASB;
To continue to prosecute individuals that fly-tip in our Boroughs;
To reduce the number of deliberate and accidental fires.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do?




Undertake proactive operations in partnership with the police in relation to fly-tipping, by checking
for waste carrier licenses etc.
Working in partnership to support victims of ASB and to assist perpetrators in changing their
behaviours;
Awareness raising via Kent Fire and Rescue Service around accidental fires and fire safety;

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy?





Reduction in ASB incidents recorded in each Borough;
Increase in percentage of Fixed Penalty Notices issued for fly-tipping offences;
Reduction in fly-tipping incidents;
Reduction in deliberate fires.

10

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring












Number of recorded anti-social behaviour incidents reported to the Police in the each Borough;
Number of active ASB cases being investigated by each District;
Number of graffiti incidents;
Number of fly-tipping incidents;
Number of fly-tipping prosecutions;
Number of ASB incidents reported;
Number of Community Protection Warnings/Notices and Acceptable Behaviour Agreements issued;
Number of deliberate fires;
Numbers of repeat victims of ASB;
Numbers of repeat locations for ASB;
Numbers of reported incidents of fly-tipping.

11

Priority 3: Preventing Offending and
Reducing Re-offending
Why is this important?
Preventing offending has been identified as a priority because the Partnership understands the detrimental
impact that crime has on victims, their families and local communities. The focus of partnership activity will
aim to disrupt Serious and Organised Crime and prevent and reduce youth offending (which will encompass
gang-related crime). Serious and Organised Crime and gang-related youth violence are now recognised as
national priorities by Central Government and there is an expectation that Community Safety Partnerships
will have a much more proactive role than has historically been the case, in working more closely with law
enforcement agencies that have traditionally been the primary organisations to tackle these issues.
Integrated Offender Management (IOM) is a multi-agency process for identifying those offenders who have
or are causing harm to communities through their criminal and/or anti-social behaviour. Multi-agency
expertise and resources are pooled to try to identify ways of reducing reoffending. The most common
priority groupings both at county and local level related to involvement in Serious and Acquisitive Crime equivalent to 64.1% of the total cohort of prolific offenders locally.
Government has also recently highlighted that knife crime is increasing nationally and with that in mind both
Boroughs are working closely with Trading Standards (KCC) targeting knife sales to underage children,
through work with local shops and supporting them with their ‘Challenge 25’ policies and through test
purchasing to ensure that retailers are abiding to their own policies and legal responsibilities.
What is our focus?






To continue to improve our intelligence picture of Serious and Organised Crime Groups, and gangrelated activity in our areas;
To work in partnership with appropriate agencies to address re-offending and take a holistic
approach, by addressing the reasons why individuals re-offend;
Raise awareness of gangs and knife crime including and appreciation of the consequences and risks
of carrying knives/other weapons both amongst young people and their families but also to increase
the understanding of this issue amongst front line professionals;
To safeguard potential victims of crime.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do?







Continue with a multi-agency approach to disrupting Serious and Organised crime using powers and
authorisations that are available to different agencies;
Deliver training to frontline staff on how to best work with young people involved in gangs including
identifying when young people may be involved in gangs and exit strategies;
Working in partnership to help support the Kent and Medway Gang Strategy;
Work with Probation and law enforcement colleagues through offender management programmes
to moderate the behaviour of those that have been known to offend/re-offend;
Support victims of crime via other agencies such as Neighbourhood Watch, whilst offering advice on
scams to those identified as more vulnerable to becoming victims of Serious and Organised Crime;
Work with and support Kent Trading Standards with knife test purchase operations whilst raising the
importance of ‘Challenge 25’ with local businesses.
12

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy?







Reduction in crime recorded in each Borough;
Reduction in the number of young people committing crime;
An increased awareness gangs to young people to avoid them becoming involved in or targeted by
gangs;
Improvement in the detection and disruption of Organised Crime Groups;
Successful monitoring and behaviour change of known offenders through the Integrated Offender
Management Programme;
Sound intelligence picture of the current gangs operating in and around our Boroughs.

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring




Number of services users who re-offend;
Number of total crimes committed in each borough;
Number of young people committing crime.

13

Priority 4: Protecting Vulnerable People and
Strengthening Communities
Why is this important?
CSP members share Safeguarding responsibilities to protect people who are more vulnerable to harm for a
variety of reasons. In addition to those who are susceptible to harm through such factors as their age,
disability, gender, religion and belief, or sexual orientation there are those who find themselves in specific
circumstances that make them vulnerable to being victimised repeatedly.
Recent work in both Dartford and Gravesham has reinforced the value of a joint, multi-agency approach of
delivering tailored interventions to identified individuals and/or families. Vulnerable people are frequently
repeat victims; ensuring they receive relevant and timely support will help to bring offenders to justice and
ultimately also reduce demand on services.
Our Boroughs are already the most diverse in the county and given level of housebuilding that is currently
being enjoyed across the area, this is set to continue as new communities move into North Kent. Experience
from other parts of the country indicates that such rapid change presents a risk of increased hate crime and
a threat to community resilience and cohesion which is already heightened.
In addition, both Local Authorities have a legal duty to take steps to reduce the threats posed by terrorism
and extremism as well as mitigating against security risks.
What is our focus?







To continue to raise awareness of hate crime, in all its forms, to increase victim confidence and seek
support;
To understand the changing demography of the CSP area;
To continue to provide events that are accessible to all and strengthen communities;
To raise awareness amongst children who are vulnerable by age to criminal exploitation;
To safeguard vulnerable children who are directly at risk of harm;
To protect specific communities who are more vulnerable to particular crimes.

The first 12 months: 2019-20 – What will we do?











Produce an ethno cultural profile and to understand how both Districts are changing using the
Origins Database as provided through the recently successful Migration Fund bid;
Identify and support specific communities who are at high risk of domestic burglaries;
Ensure both Districts’ Vulnerability Fora continue to support those in need through the
implementation of multi-agency plans;
Work with KCC to take maximum advantage of £1.3m secured from the Government’s Supporting
Families against Youth Crime Fund to help prevent young people becoming involved in gangs and
youth violence;
To continue to develop collaborative working with London Boroughs to share operational
intelligence about Child Criminal Exploitation;
To continue to support the Kent Prevent Duty Delivery Board and a County Channel Panel as
required by the Prevent Duty contained within the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015;
Provide training to frontline staff in relation to Child Criminal Exploitation;
Continue to work with schools in relation to Student Financial exploitation;
Relaunch the Shop Safe scheme (Dartford) and continue with the Scheme in Gravesham;
14




Provide support to members of the community who are vulnerable due to their individual
circumstance;
Ensure that the emerging communities are aware Community Events being held.

What is our aim for change by the end of this Strategy?




An understanding of the changing demographic profile of both Districts, with effective community
cohesion between long standing and new communities;
Increase in confidence of hate crime victims resulting in greater reporting of hate crime and the
number of offenders brought to justice;
Established working practices between us and neighbouring London Boroughs that identify and
mitigate risks caused through the safeguarding moves of families whose child/children have been
criminally exploited.

Priority Performance Indicators for 2019-20 Quarterly CSP Monitoring








Number of reported hate crimes reported;
Percentage of hate crimes detected;
Number of Safe and Well Visits conducted by Kent Fire and Rescue;
Number of Community Events held;
Number of homeless applicants placed in Temporary Accommodation;
Number of households where homelessness has been prevented;
Number of Prevent and Channel Referrals.

15

Key Contacts
Dartford Borough Council
Community Safety Unit
Civic Centre
Home Gardens
Dartford
Kent DA1 1DR
Tel. 01322 343434

Gravesham Borough Council
Community Safety Unit
Civic Centre
Windmill Street
Gravesend
Kent DA12 1AU
Tel. 01474 337000
www.gravesham.gov.uk
Kent County Council
Community Safety Unit
Invicta House
Maidstone
Kent ME14 1XX
Tel. 08458 247247
www.kent.gov.uk

Kent Police
Thames Way
Northfleet
Gravesend
Kent DA11 8BD
Tel. 01474 369055
www.kent.police.uk
Kent Fire and Rescue Service
The Godlands
Straw Mill Hill
Maidstone
Kent ME15 6XB
Tel. 01622 692121
www.kent.fire-uk.org

Kent, Surrey & Sussex
Community Rehabilitation Company
Joynes House
New Road
Gravesend
Kent DA11 0AT
Tel. 01474 569546
www.ksscrc.co.uk
Kent Police and Crime
Commissioner
1st Floor, Gail House
Lower Stone Street
Maidstone
Kent ME15 6NB
Tel. 01622 677055
www.kent-pcc.gov.uk

NHS Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley
Clinical Commissioning Group
2nd Floor, Gravesham Civic Centre
Windmill Street
Gravesend
Kent DA12 1AU
Tel. 03000 424903
www.dartfordgraveshamswanleyccg.nhs.uk

16

Violent Crime including Domestic Abuse

Persistent Anti-Social Behaviour & Environmental Crime

AIMS

AIMS
Better support for victims

Less victims of violence

More offenders prosecuted

Why is this a Priority?






Violent crime accounts for over 40% of total crime locally;
Offences such as domestic abuse and sexual violence disproportionately suffer from under-reporting;
Most serious violence is rare but about a quarter of violent offences involve some injury to victims;
Violence in public places affects perceptions that can damage our evening and night-time economies;
Personal safety and protecting people from physical harm remains paramount.

What is our aim for change by 2022?











40% of respondents to our Opinion Survey identified ASB as their most serious community safety issue;
Tackling ASB is resource-intensive and intrinsically linked to drug and alcohol misuse as well as issues such as
criminal damage, graffiti and vandalism;
ASB has an adverse effect of the quality of life of local residents and also affects local businesses and
investment within our town centres.








Reduction in ASB incidents recorded in each Borough;
Reduction in criminal damage offences recorded;
Increase in percentage of Fixed Penalty Notices issued for fly-tipping offences/reduction in fly-tipping;
Reduction in deliberate fires;
Reduction in repeat victims of ASB;
Better partnership responses to tackling ASB.

Protecting Vulnerable People
& Strengthening Communities

Why is this a Priority?

Crime has a detrimental impact on victims, families and local communities;
Serious and Organised Crime, gang-related activity and youth violence are national and local priorities;
Integrated Offender Management provides a strong multi-agency process for reducing re-offending but
the local focus also needs to be on preventing young people from being drawn into crime at all;

What is our aim for change by 2022?






People feel safer at home and
when out and about

Why is this a Priority?

Dartford and Gravesham
Community Safety Partnership Strategy 2019-22

Why is this a Priority?




Cleaner, safer neighbourhoods

What is our aim for change by 2022?

Reduction in violent crime (non-domestic) recorded in each Borough;
Increased use of services by victims of domestic abuse (particularly from BAME and hard to reach groups);
Improvement in the detection rate of violence with injury offences (non-domestic);
Successful behaviour change of offenders through the Integrated Offender Management Programme;
Sound intelligence picture of hot spot locations for violent offences in public places (non-domestic);
Reduction in violence with injury offences within hotspot locations and night-time economy areas.

Preventing Offending
& Re-offending

People are encouraged and
know how to report ASB

Reduction in crime recorded in each Borough;
Reduction in the number of young people committing crime;
Fewer young people becoming involved in or targeted by gangs;
Improvement in the detection and disruption of Organised Crime Groups;
Successful behaviour change of offenders through the Integrated Offender Management Programme

AIMS






Partner agencies share statutory Safeguarding responsibilities to protect vulnerable people from harm;
Multi-agency work through local Vulnerability Groups has demonstrated the value of this approach;
Issues such as hate crime need to be challenged to protect community cohesion;
We need to demonstrate a clear zero tolerance approach to all forms of hate crime and encourage more
victims to report and access services.

What is our aim for change by 2022?




Understanding of changing demographics with effective cohesion between long-standing and new
communities;
Increase in confidence of victims to report hate crime and more offenders brought to justice;
Established working practices with neighbouring areas that identify and mitigate risks caused through the
safeguarding moves of families whose child/children have been criminally exploited.

AIMS

LesLDisruption

of Organised
Crime

Fewer young people offending
for the first time

Changing behaviour through
Offender Management

More support for victims of
hate crime

Strengthened community
cohesion

Greater partnership working
to counter extremism

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE
24 July 2019

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2018-2019
1. Summary
To consider a report on the work carried out by the Crime and Disorder (Overview
and Scrutiny) Committee during the preceding 2018-19 municipal year.
2. RECOMMENDATION
That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the draft annual report
on the Committee’s work during the 2018-19 municipal year (attached as
Appendix A to this report) be approved and submitted to the General Assembly of
the Council for noting.
3. Background and Discussion
3.1. In accordance with its Protocol (considered elsewhere) the Committee is
required to report annually to the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) on
the work it has undertaken during the preceding municipal cycle.
3.2. A draft Annual Report detailing the work undertaken by the Committee
during the 2018-19 municipal year is attached at Appendix A for Members
consideration and comment, prior to submission to the GAC.
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
The work of the Committee supports the aim of creating safer communities
and a safer Borough in which to live, work and socialise.
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments
Financial Implications

None

Legal Implications

None

Staffing Implications

None

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment

No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable.

7. Appendices

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW and SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE
24 July 2019
Appendix A: Crime and Disorder (O&S) Committee draft Annual Report for the
2018-19 municipal year;
Appendix B: Committee Terms of Reference [May 2019];
Appendix C: Memorandum of Understanding with Dartford & Gravesham
Community Safety Partnership (CSP) [June 2015]

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information
Category

Crime and Disorder (O&S)
Protocol (June 2019), MoU with
D&G CSP (June 2015), ToRs
(22 May 2019), Annual Report
2017/18, Committee Agendas
and Minutes dated 25 July 2018
and 13 February 2019

July 2019

David Hook
Committee Coordinator
Democratic Services
(01322 343276)

Democratic
Services/
Executive
Directorate
(ES)

N/A

APPENDIX A

CRIME AND DISORDER
(OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY)
COMMITTEE

Draft Annual Report 2018-19

APPENDIX A
Introduction and Background
The Council has a legal duty under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to carry
out all of its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and
disorder and reduce re-offending in its area. ‘Crime and Disorder’ is defined as
including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social behaviour or other
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs,
alcohol and other substances.
The Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee was appointed
by the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) in October 2009 under the
provisions of the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Local Government and
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and in direct response to the provisions
of the subsequent Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations
2009.
The 2006 and 2007 Acts and the 2009 Regulations granted the Council the
power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters and hold the Dartford and
Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP) and its partner
organisations to account for their performance. This includes partnership work
with the Council to meet specific local targets, as detailed in the Memorandum
of Understanding (MoU) between the Council and the CSP (Appendix C to the
covering report).
In accordance with its Protocol, the Committee is required to review, scrutinise,
and make reports and recommendations regarding, the functioning of the
responsible authorities which comprise the Dartford and Gravesham CSP as
listed below:
Dartford Borough Council
Gravesham Borough Council
Kent County Council
Kent Police
Kent Fire and Rescue Service
Kent Probation [formerly Kent, Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation
Company]
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group
The Protocol also requires the Committee to report annually to the General
Assembly of the Council (GAC) on the work it has undertaken in the preceding
municipal year. This report provides a summary of the work undertaken by the
Committee during the 2018-19 municipal year. Comprehensive details of the
Committee’s work in the period under review are contained in the Minutes of
their meetings, as published in full on the Council’s website.

APPENDIX A
The work carried out by the Crime & Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee
compliments the work undertaken by the Scrutiny Committee and Policy
Overview Committee, as defined by their separate Protocols, and set-out in
their respective Work Plans, to avoid any duplication of Member and Officer
effort.
CRIME & DISORDER (O&S) COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME
In accordance with its Protocol, the Committee is required to consider on a
statutory basis each year:



The Dartford & Gravesham CSP’s Strategic Assessment document;
The CSP’s projected three-year Community Safety Strategy or the
annual Strategy Refresh document (as appropriate).

In addition, on a discretionary basis with the prior agreement of the CSP or
the Council’s Strategic Director (External Services) as appropriate; the
Committee reviews on a rolling basis, the contributions made by individual
partner agencies to the overall aims of the CSP; as set out in detail in the
Memorandum of Understanding between the Council and the Partnership
[Appendix C attached refers].
The Committee also considers stock agenda items. In the 2018-19 municipal
year under review the Committee considered:




The CSP’s mid-year Performance Report;
The published Minutes of the Kent & Medway Police & Crime Panel
(PCP) meetings held in the period; and
The annual update report from the Council’s D-TAC (Dartford Town
against Crime) team.

The Committee met twice during the 2018-19 municipal cycle on 25 July
2018 and 13 February 2019.
At the initial meeting in the cycle Members agreed a rolling Work Plan for the
Committee [set out in the table below] to be reviewed at subsequent
meetings:

Rolling Work Plan 2018-19 and Beyond
Meeting
Summer
2018
(July)

2018 Refresh to CSP
Community Safety
Strategy (2017-20)
CSP Performance
Report June 2018

Work Plan Items
D-TAC (Dartford
Town Against Crime)) Committee
Annual Report
Annual Report
2017-18
PCP Update
Work Plan for
2018-19

APPENDIX A
Winter 2019
(February)

CSP Strategic
Assessment 2018

Summer
2019
(July)

CSP Community
Safety Strategy (2018
to 2021) 2019
Refresh

Review Work
Plan

CSP Performance
Report June 2019

Annual Report
2018-19
D-TAC Annual
Update

Winter 2020
(February)

CSP Strategic
Assessment 2019

PCP Update

2019-20 Work
Plan

PCP Update
Review Work Plan

Work Plan items considered by the Committee in the 2018-19 municipal cycle
are summarised below for Members to note. Comprehensive details of the
Committee’s discussions in the period under review are contained in the
relevant Minutes, as published in full on the Council website.

WORK PLAN ITEMS considered in the 2018-19 MUNICIPAL YEAR

Summer Meeting - 25 July 2018
Standing Invitations
The Committee renewed their standing invitation to the Cabinet Portfolio
Holder for Community Development, Councillor Mrs Ann Allen MBE, to attend
and contribute to their meetings in the ensuing municipal cycle. The continued
guidance provided by the Council’s Strategic Director (External Services) to
the Committee’s proceedings was welcomed, and contributions from Council
Officers and Kent Police representatives in the Council’s joint Community
Safety Unit to future agenda items noted.
Item 1: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) – Update
Members were asked to note the published Minutes for the PCP meetings
held on 8 February and 25 April 2018.
The Chairman had attended the latter meeting in his role as Dartford
representative to the PCP, and highlighted the following points the
Committee:

APPENDIX A







999 and 101 Service – to improve response times for both services, the
Kent Police & Crime Commissioner (PCC) had sanctioned the
recruitment of 40 additional staff for the Forces Control Room to answer
calls, plus a further 20 staff for the Incident Management Unit;
Public reporting of Crime – online reporting of crime by the public had
increased by 11% and public reporting of road traffic collisions had
increased by 60%;
Policing of Road Traffic – the Commissioner had put a case to central
Government for Kent to be considered as a special case for extra funding
from March 2019 to meet increased road policing demands post-Brexit;
Speedwatch - Panel Members had fed-back positively regarding the
speedwatch scheme including a noted improvement in their relationship
with Kent Police;
Mental Health Update - the Commissioner had welcomed the
investment made by Kent’s Chief Constable to increase the size of Kent
Police’s Mental Health Team. A further increase was proposed as part
of the uplift of 200 additional police officers in 2018/19.

Members resolved to note the published Minutes of the PCP meetings held on
8 February and 25 April 2018 as included in the agenda papers, together with
the Chairman’s additional comments and background concerning the Panel
meeting held on 25 April.
Item 2: Training Workshop for Dartford Hackney Cab & Private Hire
Operators
The Council’s Licensing Manager detailed for Members, the key elements of a
new and unique ‘workshop training day’ for new Hackney and Private Hire
drivers and operators (and those renewing their licences) provided jointly by the
Council’s Licensing Team and Kent Fire & Rescue Service (KFRS).
The training had been held at the KFRS facility in Rochester and had utilised
the Service’s existing ‘Road Safety Experience’ training module, dovetailed
with mandatory training modules from the Council’s Licensing Team, for Child
Sexual Exploitation (CSE Safeguarding) and the ‘Prevent’ element of the
Government’s Counter Terrorism measures.
The day-long Workshop comprised two distinct sessions. In the morning the
Council’s Licensing Team had covered the mandatory training modules for
‘Safeguarding’, ‘Prevent’ and law and policy, in an interactive session with
drivers to enable them to obtain the required ‘credits’ for their licence. The
afternoon session from KFRS comprising a full Road Traffic Crash role play
experience, tailored to meet the bespoke needs of the Taxi Driver audience.
The final part of the day examined statistics for road traffic accidents, the
consequences of those incidents, and how small changes in driving habits
could make significant differences to the benefit of other road users. Taxi
drivers were given the opportunity to ask questions of the Police, KFRS and
Council Officers and gave positive feedback and evaluation on the training
they had received.

APPENDIX A
Members welcomed the Council initiative with KFRS and noted the unique
nature of the multi-agency training within Kent, and suggested that the
Council might wish to consider advertising the 1 day workshop more widely in
the local press, and via the Council’s twitter feed and website.

Item 3: Dartford Town against Crime (DTAC) Scheme – Progress Report
The Committee received a progress report on the DTAC Scheme from the
Town Centre & Business Manager, supported by a PowerPoint presentation
from the DTAC Intelligence Manager, which detailed the progress made by the
Scheme in the year ending 31 March 2018.
The progress report and accompanying PowerPoint presentation covered the
following principal areas of the Scheme:








Performance of DTAC by way of reports/information;
Crime statistics from Police.uk web-site;
Shop-safe radios and Council CCTV;
Policing of the Town;
DTAC finances;
New/Leaving DTAC members;
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) / auditing of DTAC Disc

The DTAC Manager highlighted the following specific points within the above
headings for Members:


Performance of DTAC via reports/information from DTAC Disc
system – reports from business members averaged 89 per month,
business membership had peaked at 74 in August 2017 but dropped to
61 in June 2018 – a membership loss of 12%. Users with access rights
to DTAC Disc data had also fallen from a peak of 116 in January 2018
to 99 in June 2018. A membership audit and the restrictions of the
Government’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) post May
2018, were seen as principal causes for the drop. The average number
of log-ins to disc had been 235 per month. The automatic DTAC Disc
‘Alert’ system which informed members of offences, crime methods and
other matters of interest automatically, had averaged 4 alerts per month;



Reports of losses & recovery of goods to DTAC –recorded losses
had increased from £31.3K in 2016 to £55.7K in 2017 and were
projected to reach £58.9K in 2018. However, similar increases had been
recorded for recovered goods;



Crime statistics from the Police.uk web-site – Local & Most Similar
Town Groups: ‘Shoplifting within 1 mile of Town Centre’ had remained
constant with a seasonal ‘spike’ of 52 offences in December 2017 (the
run-up to Christmas) preceded by a seasonal low of 22 in September
2017. Instances of ‘ASB, Public Order offences & Criminal Damage’ had

APPENDIX A
fluctuated. A peak had been reached in October and November
(Halloween and Guy Fawkes’s Bonfire night) preceded by lower figures
in July to September. The offences of ‘Violence against the Person,
Robbery & Theft from Persons (Pickpocketing)’ had also fluctuated.
Within Dartford’s family of Most Similar Town Groups (MSTGs) and
CSPs the Council had achieved varied results in the year ending
December 2017. In terms of all crime recorded in the 15 most similar
Towns/CSPs across England and Wales, Dartford’s crime rate was
second highest behind only Peterborough. For Shoplifting Dartford was
6th highest in the Group and 2nd highest for Violence against the Person.
For Public Order offences Dartford was 4th highest within the Group;


Shop-Safe Radios & CCTV – the expanded digital system was up and
running with only minor technical issues concerning masts. The
expansion of the DTAC radio system to Longfield had been agreed
between the Parish and the Council and was 99% complete. Two more
operators had been recruited for the Council’s in-house CCTV operation
to address some loss of coverage in the Town centre and the fall in
DTAC membership;



Policing of the Town – Dartford businesses were generally content with
the level of policing in the Town from the dedicated Town Centre PC and
PCSO;



DTAC Finances - Business membership remained at £36 p.m. plus VAT
with Charity shops paying £10 p.m. plus VAT, administered by the
Council’s Finance Department: combined with the Council’s contribution
this had given an annual income for the year of £31,000. Outward
expenditure included; licence renewals of £250, the new mast and radio
system for Longfield £4,000, the annual licence for the Disc system of
£1200 and public liability insurance of £340. Capital revenue from
membership fees had fallen, but new business membership and revenue
was expected, once the new mast was erected in Longfield;



General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) – The advent of GDPR
[from May 2018] had required all DTAC members to re-sign revised
confidentiality agreements, liaison with Kent Police’s Data Protection
Officer, and new DTAC policies to be written for approval of the Council’s
Head of Legal Services. An audit of the Disc system had also been
undertaken to ‘cleanse’ it of all information more than 2 years old to
further comply with GDPR.

Members resolved to note the report and expressed their appreciation of the
current DTAC Scheme and its operation by the DTAC Manager.
Item 4: Review of Dartford’s Safer Streets Policy
Members were informed by the District Commander that the review of
Dartford’s Safer Streets Policy by Kent Police remained ongoing, and had yet
to reach the final report stage.

APPENDIX A
Current work by the Dartford CSU Inspector had focussed on existing police
patrol patterns for the Town Centre over three consecutive week-ends. This
had revealed that:







The majority of anti-social activity stemming from the night-time
economy in the Town Centre occurred after midnight;
Reducing patrols pre-midnight could free between 4 to 6 Officers for
other duties;
Increased use of Special Constables to police the night-time economy
could produce further staff ‘savings’ for re-location to other duties
Venues in the Town Centre operating as part of the night-time economy
would be re-visited and re-appraised;
Existing hot-spots would be re-evaluated;
Liaison with British Transport Police would be increased to address the
issue of criminals from London and elsewhere in Kent and Essex
commuting to Dartford station to commit offences in the Borough.

The District Commander confirmed that Kent Police were fully aware of the
potential impact on public confidence that withdrawing patrols from the Town
Centre prior to midnight, at week-ends might have. Data from existing patrol
patterns continued to be reviewed by Kent Police, and public opinion to any
proposed changes gauged, utilising social media the Council’s CSU twitter
feed.
Kent Police and Council Officers would undertake a media campaign via the
Police website and the CSU twitter feed, to ensure that the public were made
aware of any new proposals before they instituted.
Item 5: Performance
The Committee considered the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety
Partnership’s (CSP) Quarterly Performance Report (July 2018) in closed
session, given the confidential nature of the source material it contained, as
provided by individual CSP partner agencies.
The July 2018 Performance report (previously agreed by the CSP), detailed
performance in relation to recorded levels of crime and Anti-Social Behaviour
(ASB) in Dartford and Gravesham, as an indication of the CSP’s current
position within Kent as a whole. The report also highlighted key Community
Safety activity that had been delivered in both Dartford and Gravesham since
the CSP had last met, as a means of monitoring the Partnership’s progress in
addressing its strategic priorities.
Members were advised in a covering report from the Council’s Community
Safety Officer (CSO), that the format for the July 2018 Performance report
differed from previous reports. National changes to crime data recording
processes had been introduced in the interim, which meant that the data for
recorded crimes in the July 2018 report, was not comparable to that for the
corresponding period in the previous year. However, the new practices had
not affected the recording of incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), and
year-on-year comparison for that offence was still valid. It was hoped that

APPENDIX A
year-on-year comparisons of all crime rates would be possible from 2019-20
onwards.
Members asked a variety of questions concerning specific aspects of the July
2018 Performance report, to which Officers gave the following responses:


CCTV - a grant from the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC)
had enabled the Council to recruit an additional CCTV operator on a 1
year fixed-term contract to increase surveillance in the Town Centre. A
further grant request would be made to the PCC in 2019;



Gang prevention Measures –bids to the PCC and the Home Office’s
“Trusted Relationship Fund” (TRF) had secured funding in support of
Gang intervention work. Gang members and their families being
temporarily accommodated in Dartford by London Authorities, was an
emerging issue. Dartford Council was not notified of such moves in
advance. CSU Officers were working to establish better working
relationships with neighbouring London Boroughs going forward;



Fly-Tipping Enforcement Campaign – the Council had a new
dedicated Enforcement Officer and the campaign was being run as a
multi-agency operation with CSU support and Kent Police back-up.

Members resolved to note the Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety
Partnership’s Performance Report (July 2018).
Item 6: 2018 Refresh to CSP’s Community Safety Strategy (2016-19)
Members considered the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy 2018 Refresh
document which updated the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy (2016-19)
document, initially considered by Members in February 2018.
The 2018 Refresh reflected the priorities identified in the CSP’s Strategic
Assessment 2018 document, together with the views of partner Agencies and
elected Members, as agreed by the CSP in March 2018
Members resolved to note the contents of the 2018 Refresh to the CSP’s
Community Safety Strategy 92016-19).
Item 7: Work Plan 2018/19 – Update
Members agreed the contents of the revised rolling Work Plan for the
remainder of the 2018-19 municipal year and the Summer and Winter
meetings in the 2019-20 cycle as detailed in the Agenda, together with the
following additions proposals by the Chairman and agreed by the SD (ES):



Gangs
Presentation from Kent Trading Standards

Item 8: Annual Report 2017-18

APPENDIX A
Members considered the contents of the Committee’s draft Annual Report for
the preceding 2017-18 municipal cycle and resolved that it be submitted to the
General Assembly of the Council for noting, and expressed their thanks to the
Committee Co-ordinator for his support of the Committee throughout the
preceding municipal year.

Winter Meeting - 13 February 2019

Item 1: Kent Police and Crime Panel (PCP) Update
Members were asked to note the published Minutes of the PCP meetings held
on 19 July, 27 September and 14 November 2018.
In his role as Dartford representative, the Chairman had attended the most
recent PCP meeting on 6 February 2019 and summarised the principal
matters discussed for Members:





Police Precept - the Panel had approved a proposal by the Kent Police
& Crime Commissioner (PCC) to raise the Police precept element in
Council Tax. The increase would equate to £24 p.a. in the Council Tax
for each Band D property, and help fund the recruitment of 180 new Kent
Police Officers. Training and deployment of the new recruits would be
subject to the overall operational control of the Chief Constable;
Crime Recording - Kent Police had regained its ‘Outstanding’ status
for the recording of crime following the 2018 inspection of the Force by
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary;
Brexit –Initial funding of £150K had been allocated to Kent to finance
measures in the case of a ‘No-Deal’ Brexit post 29 March 2019.

Members resolved to note the published Minutes for the PCP meetings held
on 19 July, 27 September and 14 November 2018 and the feed-back from the
Chairman concerning the PCP proceedings held on 6 February 2019.
Item 2: Kent Trading Standards (KTS)
The Committee received a PowerPoint presentation from Kent County
Council’s Principal Trading Standards Officer.
Members were advised that Kent Trading Standard’ operation had been
rationalised and re-situated in Ashford. It comprised four re-structured teams:





The Complex Investigations Team - dealing with rogue traders on an indepth basis;
The Food Chain Team;
The Business Advice Services Team (Brexit had increased the Team’s
work-load considerably);
The Consumer and Public Safety Team

APPENDIX A
The Principal Trading Standards Officer covered the following major KTS
work areas in his presentation, with particular reference to the work priorities
his own Consumer & Public Safety Team:
Brexit
This remained a major unknown for Trading Standards in terms of a final deal
approved by Parliament or a ‘no-deal’ Brexit. Both scenarios would have a
major impact on trading and business in the UK. In the event of a ‘no-deal’
Brexit a degree of contingency and even emergency planning would also be
required. Either final scenario would entail:





Increased work at all the Channel ports and dock operations;
An increase in Trading Standards’ support to businesses;
The potential for criminals to exploit the continuing uncertainty over the
final outcome and subsequently, particularly in the event of a ‘no-deal’
Brexit;
Significant contingency planning to prevent fuel shortages post Brexit
and gridlock on the motorway and road system. In particular access to
and egress from the Channel ports.

Consumer and Public Safety Team: Work Areas







The prevention of faulty goods reaching the domestic marketplace via
intelligence led operations at docks and other points of UK entry,
inspection of retail premises and product labelling, assisting companies
in product re-call;
To help combat underage sales of alcohol and tobacco via an holistic,
intelligence led approach, with the Police, public and young people to
identify and prosecute offending retailers;
The prevention of illegal alcohol and tobacco sales [not overly prevalent
in Kent to date] and the support of vaping sales as a healthier alternative;
Combating knife crime via an Intel led approach against suspected
retailers and the enforcement of the over 25 policy;
Explosives monitoring, particularly fireworks and the possibility of bombmaking from such commonly sold products.

Illegal Tobacco




Illegal tobacco could be recognised by its labelling, often in a Cyrillic
script and absence of health warnings, and contained more impurities
than legal brands. ‘Mock Convenience Stores’ were the principal outlet,
concealing their principal illegal activity by selling a basic selection of
consumer products. Genuine retail stores also sold illegal tobacco
products, given the profit mark-up and as a means of attracting
increased customer footfall for legal product sales. On-line and
Facebooks traders dealing expressly in illegal tobacco products was a
growing trend;
Trading Standards targeted illegal tobacco sales because of the
increased health risks the products posed particularly for minors, and the
threat to overall Government health policy posed by these more

APPENDIX A









affordable illegal products. The products also undermined local
economies by removing revenue from legitimate businesses and
passing it to organised criminal operations. The loss of tax revenue from
illegal tobacco sales impacted on the Exchequer, and the Government’s
ability to fund its enforcement bodies;
The 2018 survey of smokers in SE England had revealed that 70%
bought illegal tobacco, with 75% doing so knowingly. Some 83% of
smokers had a single illegal tobacco supplier so effective enforcement
could changing their purchasing profile. Some 87% had agreed that all
smokers bought illegal product at some time, and that cheaper illegal
tobacco made it harder to quit smoking. If caught and prosecuted 70%
of smokers surveyed would stop purchasing illegal products, 78% would
stop if they thought their outlet was linked to criminal gangs, and 85%
would stop buying illegal products if their outlet supplied to children;
Approximately 20 shops of a criminal nature had been identified
conducting illegal tobacco sales in Kent. However, successful
prosecutions in the Courts were difficult to obtain, given the absence of
any paper trail to establish ownership of the premises. Magistrates could
impose significant fines against those convicted, but fines were
insignificant in the context of the overall profit such illegal operations
made;
Alternative strategies to combat illegal tobacco sales included: Kent
Police’s Illegal Tobacco Unit Roadshow funded by Kent Public Health
which visited Dartford in 2017], Primary and Secondary School theatre
productions to warning against the dangers of smoking – particularly
illegal products, Kent Police Open Day, spray-painting ‘Smoke-Free
Zone’ signs in public places e.g. Young Mum’s Centre in the Isle of
Sheppey;
Joined-up reporting across government agencies was important and
helped demonstrate the ‘nuisance’ caused by ‘Mock Convenience
Stores’ and the link that illegal tobacco [and alcohol] sales had to
increased levels of anti-social behaviour (ASB). A sustained multiagency approach was required to both disrupt supply networks and deter
users.

Members thanked the Principal Trading Standards Officer for a comprehensive
presentation and invited him to return and update the Committee.
Item3: Review of Dartford’s Safer Streets Policy
Prior to receiving an update from Kent Police guests on Dartford’s current
Safer Streets policy, at the discretion of the Chairman, the Committee were
addressed by a representative from Dartford’s Nepalese community regarding
their concern that organised criminal gangs committing burglary in the
Borough were targeting Indian and Nepalese homes.
The Nepalese community representative informed Members that burglary
offences in Dartford had risen consistently over the previous 6 year period,
with the 100 plus families of Indian and Nepalese descent resident in Dartford
appearing to suffer from this particular crime on a disproportionate basis.

APPENDIX A
He sought an increased Police presence in the town centre to combat this
concerted rise in burglary offences, including more resources devoted to the
Neighbourhood Watch Scheme, and asked what measures his community
association could adopt to help the Police to positively address the issue.
Members were advised by the District Commander that Kent Police were
aware of the rise in burglary offences and had a Kent Control Strategy in
place to combat it. A concerted 3-4 week operation was being undertaken by
Kent Police in Dartford which had already produced arrests of key known
criminals using Intel and CCTV footage. Dartford’s CSU Police Inspector
would continue to work with the local community and all residents and
community groups and stood ready to attend any proposed meetings with
them, to help educate residents over measures they could adopt to help the
Police further combat burglary in their areas.
At the request of the District Commander, Members agreed to consider Kent
Police’s further refinements to Dartford’s Safer Streets policy within the overall
context of ‘Offences of Violence’, together with their consideration of the
CSP’s 2018 Strategic Assessment document, later in the agenda.
Item4: Kent and Medway Gangs Strategy and County Lines
Members received a joint presentation from Kent Police representatives and
the Council’s Community Safety Manager which addressed the following
principal areas:






National Picture
Gangs
Signs, Risks and Vulnerabilities
Kent and Medway Strategy
How Dartford is Responding

Spread of City Gangs and County Lines
So called ‘County Lines’ operations had spread out North, South, East and
West from the Metropolis into the Home Counties, with the number of London
Gangs believed to have reduced from 230 down to 180 with an overall gang
membership of some 3,000 individuals. ‘County Lines’ activity appeared to
operate across most of Kent. Dartford was not a ‘hotspot’ but had its issues.
Definition of a Gang
The Home Office (HO) definition of a gang was ‘a group of 3 or more people
involved in violence’ and had ‘one or more characteristics that enabled its
members to be identified by others’. Kent Police had refined the HO definition
further by recognising a distinction between:



Organised criminal gangs associated with level 2 criminality [Kent,
Surrey and Sussex];
Gangs maintaining ‘drug lines’ across the county of Kent;

APPENDIX A


Those who have a more nebulous link to gangs and a ‘youth culture’
based on a ‘tag line’ or postcode affiliation.

The activities of the second and third categories listed above in particular,
exhibited a potent form of Child Criminal Exploitation.
Gang Structure
Gangs could be broken down into the following tiered structure:




Highest Tier – the ‘Elder’ or ‘Boss’ who often owned their own business
for laundering drugs and money with average daily turnover of £3K
upwards;
Middle Tier – ‘Shotters’ or ‘Generals’ were the main enforcers in a gang,
researched new areas for drug demand, organised recruitment,
supervised the lower tier and crossed ‘county lines’ during their activities;
Lower Tier- ‘Wrappers’ were back room staff who prepared Class A
drugs for sale. ‘Youngers’ (including kids) carried knives and committed
street robberies. New recruits entered the gang family at this level.

Safeguarding – National Issue





The age of children dealing drugs in gangs was getting progressively
younger, prompting education around gangs to be targeted at a younger
audience and age-group;
Youths, early school-age teenagers and even younger children were all
easy targets for gang recruitment. Children from single parent families
or with a parent who was a drug user were particularly susceptible, and
attracted by the gang role model;
Younger pre-Secondary school age children were increasingly recruited
by gangs because they were harder to identify and re-educate.

Cuckooing
County Line drug dealing was the practice of metropolitan crime gangs
supplying drugs outside London to dealers in the Home Counties. The term
‘Cuckooing’ described the practice whereby drug dealers took over the homes
of vulnerable persons to use as a base for dealing. The practice represented
a significant risk to both the ‘cuckooed’ individual and the wider community.
Indicators of the practice included:






Individuals taking over a vulnerable person’s address;
Vulnerable people being threatened or coerced into co-operating;
Frequent high numbers of visitors to the address;
Signs of drug misuse at the address including deal bags and weighing
scales;
Individuals displaying large amounts of cash and having multiple mobile
phones.

People in the social housing market were particularly vulnerable to this gang
activity, and the Council’s Housing Department liaised closely with the

APPENDIX A
Community Safety Unit and Kent Police to prevent ‘Cuckooing’ operations in
the Borough.
Kent and Medway Gangs Strategy 2018-2021 - Approach to Ending the
Criminal Exploitation of Vulnerable Children and Adults by Gangs
Vision


To protect and prevent young people from becoming involved with
gangs, to tackle gang-related harm and youth violence, to pursue
effective enforcement action to deal with those embroiled in gang
activities; through collaborative working across Kent & Medway local
agency partnerships, to achieve the key objectives that have been
identified as central to driving this vision.

Action Plan – District Involvement






Multi-agency ‘problem profiling’ of gangs and nominal gang associates
operating in Kent & Medway;
To obtain a more comprehensive and sophisticated understanding of
where and how gangs operated in the County, in order to better target
resources and channel collective energies to tackle this issue for both
vulnerable children and adults, drawing on the Margate Taskforce geomapping and peer group analysis approach;
To provide individuals and their families at risk of gang involvement, with
focussed support and wrap-around services to dissuade them from
entering into gangs and criminal groups;
To Work across the tiers of local government to use all available powers
to create and manage public spaces and discourage gang congregation.

Members were advised that Dartford was not a ‘trail-blazer’ in terms of County
Line activity in Kent. Thanet (Margate) had been the first major location for
such activity in the county with lessons to be learnt from that local authority’s
experience, and how it had addressed the issue with early help from and
liaison with, London Boroughs and the Kent and Metropolitan Police Forces.
In addition to drawing on KCC’s Safeguarding policy, Dartford worked closely
with Kent Police and held a seat on KCC’s Serious Youth Crime Reduction
Group, currently occupied by Councillor Ann Allen MBE, as a Kent Member
and Dartford Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development.
Dartford contribution to Objectives of Kent & Medway Plan
Prepare




Manage public spaces to discourage gang congregation and associated
anti-social behaviour (ASB) using Dartford’s CCTV operation, enhanced
with funding from the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner; expansion
of the Council’s DTAC (Dartford Town Against Crime) Scheme;
Create a shared understanding of gangs across the agencies of the
Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership, develop a

APPENDIX A
common language and approach to gang work via the Dartford Serious
Youth Violence Group, continued staff training in the field.
Pursue


Effective enforcement and offender management to deal with gang
members who refuse to reform, enforcement of the Night-Time
economy, use of the Housing Act, Community Protection procedures
and Policing Operations and Initiatives.

Prevent


Strengthen early intervention and prevention work to stop young people
becoming involved with gangs through improvements in information
sharing, Police input into schools, working with the St. Giles Trust and
NatWest as a ‘community banker’, Head Teacher education, Youth
Hubs, Kent Serious Youth Violence Crime scheme, and the Kent Police
Dartford Youth Engagement Officer.

Protect


Develop support pathways to help young people out of gangs and violent
behaviour including: the Challenge scheme, attendance at Adolescent
Risk Management Panel (ARM) and Integrated Offender Management
(IOM) meetings, via the Vulnerability Forum multi-agency operation coordinated via the Kent Police CSU Inspector, via the CSO attending
London Borough meetings, increased Cross-Border Liaison with
Metropolitan Boroughs.

The CSM confirmed the following additional points in response to questions
from Members:




The Vulnerability Forum had no matrix of activity in Dartford, or profile of
gang members, but work was being undertaken by reformed gang
members to provide current offenders with positive male role models;
Cuckooing was not prevalent in Dartford;
The CSO was liaising with London authorities over their gang profiles
and the nature of their County Line operations including any implications
for Dartford.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development advised Members
that the Local Children’s Partnership Board was undertaking excellent work in
Dartford. Dartford’s Youth Council was also undertaking a vital and effective
role in getting young people to talk to each other and she paid particular
praise to the work being undertaken by the CSU and Kent Police to educate
young people to the dangers of gang activity and involvement.
The Chairman and Members thanked the CSM for an excellent presentation
and his positive responses to their questions, and noted the excellent work
being undertaken by the CSO.

APPENDIX A
Item 5: Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership
Strategic Assessment 2018
In accordance with Committee’s Terms of Reference, and as an Overview
function on an annual basis, Members were asked to consider the Dartford
and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) Strategic Assessment
2018 document.
Members were reminded that the Strategic Assessment (SA) process was
conducted annually by the CSP to address crime and anti-social behaviour
issues impacting on its communities. The views of residents concerning those
issues also formed part of the Strategic Assessment process. The 2018 SA
exercise was particularly significant, as it formed the first stage of the CSP’s
new three-year Community Safety Strategy, to guide the Partnership’s work
between April 2019 and March 2022.
The Community Safety Manager (CSM) drew Members attention to the
following detailed points in the 2018 SA document
Total Crime 1 October 2017 to 30 September 2018









Total Crime in Dartford for the period under review was 13,310
offences amounting to 123.4 offences per 1,000 of the population,
slightly higher than the Kent-wide average of 107.7 offences;
Violent Crime in Dartford had also increased and was above the Kent
average. Changes to national crime recording practices accounted for
part of the increase, but it was nevertheless a concern for the CSP. He
advised that only 50% of crimes categorised as violent resulted in
actual injury to a person;
Domestic Abuse (DA) cases had risen sharply in the year under
review, again due in part to changes in recording practices, whereby
each historic offense disclosed by a victim involving the same
perpetrator, was now recorded as a separate crime. Funding from the
Home Office Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG)
Transformation Fund, to deliver the ‘Altogether Safer Project’ across
the Dartford and Gravesham CSP had been increased by £19K in 2018
to extend the ‘Out of Hours’ Service and strengthen ‘Choose Respect’
work;
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) had seen a significant reduction in
Dartford of 26.7%, greater than elsewhere in Kent. A drop in the
number of repeat offenders was seen as particularly positive. There
had also been a significant drop in deliberate fires (arson) in Dartford;
Reducing Offending and Reoffending: the focus within this priority
was the disruption of serious and organised crime and preventing and
reducing Youth reoffending (with an emphasis on gang-related activity).
The CSP would draw-up a 3 year plan to address the issue, but funding
would be key to its success.

Members were then addressed by the District Commander on the recent
spike in burglaries in Dartford, which had been subjected to increased Police

APPENDIX A
activity, including an element to address burglaries in the Nepalese and Indian
community. Police contact with the Sikh Temple and community in Dartford
was also being strengthened. Those exercises had been dovetailed with his
continued review of Dartford’s Safer Streets policy. The Review had shown
that Kent Police had good intelligence and a strategy in place to react to any
future spikes of anti-social behaviour in the Night-Time economy.
Members were advised that the recruitment and training of new Police
constables was underway following the increased funding to the Police
precept element of Council Tax, approved by the Kent Police and Crime
Panel in February 2019. Police numbers would increase on the ground in
Dartford following training. The key nature of the combined Police and Council
operation in Dartford CSU was highlighted to Members. Also the effective
inter-face with Bexley, Greenwich and Lewisham Councils, and best practice
shared with Gravesham CSU and other partners within the CSP.
The CSM concluded the presentation to Members with details of the CSP
priority for ‘Protecting Vulnerable People and Strengthening Communities’.
Mental health issues, homelessness and vulnerable adults were key issues
which demanded effective co-operation and co-ordination across all agencies
in the Partnership, to help the individuals concerned and to strengthen the
Dartford and Gravesham communities as a consequence.
He confirmed that the next step was for the priorities from the 2018 SA to be
subject to a public survey, prior to their incorporation into the Partnership’s
2019-2022 Community Safety Strategy and 2019 Action Plan.
Members resolved to note the CSP’s Strategic Assessment 2018 document,
and the CSP’s intention to submit a new Community Safety Strategy (20192022) document to address the priorities identified in the Strategic
Assessment 2018 to the next meeting of the Committee on 24 July 2019.
Item 6: Work Plan Update 2018-19 and Beyond
Members agreed the contents and timeframe for an updated Committee Work
Plan for the remainder of the 2018-19 municipal year.

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL
ANNUAL MEETING
22 May 2019
STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of
Reference]
Chairman:
Vice-Chairman:
Membership:

Councillor M J Davis
Councillor M I Peters
Councillors S H Brown, J Burrell, S P Butterfill, L A
Canham, R M Currans, L H K Edie, B Garden, K J Grehan, R
A S Jones, T A Maddison, D T Nicklen, T Oliver, J A Ozog,
A Sandhu MBE, and Mrs R F Storey.

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]
TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:
1. The Overview Function
(1) Without prejudice to the role and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards etc, to
review general policies of the Council and to recommend accordingly to the Cabinet on
future policy options.
(2) To seek views from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of the
effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions.
(3) To hold policy reviews and make recommendations to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in
accordance with the Committee’s Protocol.
(4) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to assist the Cabinet and/or the GAC in the
development of future policies and strategies.
(5) Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input from
Councillors (including Cabinet members), Officers, Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum,
other interested stakeholders and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of
constituents’ views.
(6) To gather information and make recommendations in accordance with the Committee’s
Protocol to the Cabinet and/or the GAC before policy is implemented as part of the
framework for accountable, transparent decision-making.

(7) To carry out reviews of non-Council matters and as part of the community planning
process, consult with partner organisations where appropriate and make
recommendations to the Cabinet in relation to matters which are not the direct
responsibility of the GAC, but which nevertheless affect the economic, environmental and
social well-being of the Borough.
(8) To consider and investigate broad policy issues and make reports and recommendations
to the Cabinet and/or the GAC in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol.
(9) In accordance with the Committee’s Protocol to provide advice to the Cabinet and/or the
GAC on major issues before final decisions are made.
(10) To receive the views and recommendations of area/joint committees or forums as part of
any review which impacts on the Borough.
(11) To be consulted/receive referrals by the GAC and/or the Cabinet about issues falling within
the remit of the Committee, example Cabinet requesting an enquiry into a particular issue.
(12) To approve an annual overview work programme in accordance with Standing Order 58(8)
including the programme of any subcommittee appointed by the Committee to ensure that
there is efficient use of the Committee’s (sub-committee’s) time and that potential for
duplication of effort is minimised.
(13) To review the Cabinet’s forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, forthcoming
Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to review.
(14) To carry out reviews of how certain decisions have affected a particular community or area
by taking advice from area committees or forums and other community groups and
representatives.
2. Service Delivery
To consider new approaches to service delivery and recommend to the Cabinet
demanding performance targets for services, so as to deliver continuous improvements
which reflect both national and local considerations including;
(a) Challenging why and how a service is being provided;
(b) Securing comparison with the performance of others across a range of relevant
indicators, taking into account the views of both service users and potential suppliers;
(c) Consulting local taxpayers, service users, partners and the wider business community
in the setting up of new performance targets;
(d) Considering fair competition as a means of securing efficient and effective services
(e) To make recommendation(s)
information/indicators.

to

the

Cabinet

on

suitable

performance

3. Overview of Health Functions
To review any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health service
in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, Health
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

4. Discussion/Consultation Papers
To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated with
the functions of the Committee in accordance with the consultation procedure.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN THE CRIME AND DISORDER
(OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE AND THE DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM
COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP
Introduction
1. The Council has a legal duty under Section 17(1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to
carry out all its various functions with regard to the need to prevent crime and disorder and
reduce re-offending in its area.
2. The Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007 grant the Council the power to scrutinise both crime and disorder matters
through the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP). The
legislative powers are intended to enable the Council’s overview and scrutiny function to
hold the CSP and other partner organisations to account for their performance, including
their work with the Council, to meet specific local targets.
3. The Councillor Calls for Action provide a ‘last resort’ mechanism for the Council’s overview
and scrutiny function to try to resolve persistent local crime and disorder issues of genuine
community concern, where all efforts by a local ward Councillor to find a solution through
local action and discussion with the CSP etc, have been unsuccessful.
4. In order for the exercise of overview and scrutiny powers to be effective, it is vital that the
CSP and other partners and stakeholders are engaged in the process and share a common
understanding of the Council’s overview and scrutiny aims. This Memorandum of
Understanding has therefore been developed to embody that understanding and sets out
the rights and responsibilities that relate to the parties concerned.
The CSP and main tasks
5.(a) The CSP comprises seven statutory bodies who have a legal duty to work with other
local agencies and organisations to develop and implement strategies to tackle crime
and disorder, including anti-social and other behaviour adversely affecting the local
environment, as well as the misuse of drugs in their area:
Dartford Borough Council
Gravesham Borough Council
Kent Police
Kent County Council
Kent Fire and Rescue Service
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group
(b) The CSP works with numerous other agencies and voluntary groups.
(c) In order to identify and deliver on the priorities that matter the most to local
communities, the CSP is required to carry out a number of main tasks:
preparing an annual strategic assessment which identifies the crime and
community safety priorities in the area, through analysis of information provided by
partner agencies an the community;
producing a partnership plan, detailing the approach for addressing priorities;
undertaking community consultation and engagement on crime and disorder
issues; and
sharing information among the responsible authorities.

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of
Understanding June 2015.doc

1

Aims of overview and scrutiny
6. To:
(a) involve the responsible authorities, local people and community organisations, in
overview and scrutiny activity;
(b) develop a dialogue with the responsible authorities, service providers and other
stakeholders external to the Council;
(c) take up issues of concern to local people;
(d) review whether the CSP’s goals are being achieved; and
(e) examine what can be done to solve problems and enhance the CSP’s performance and
achievement.
Designated crime and disorder committee
7. The Council’s designated crime and disorder committee under section 19(1) of the Police
and Justice Act 2006, is the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee. The
Committee is independent of the CSP.
8. There will be at least one ordinary meeting of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and
Scrutiny) Committee in each municipal year in accordance with the Council’s calendar of
meetings. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called as and when appropriate in
accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules detailed in its Standing Orders.
9. The Committee’s Terms of Reference
The overview and scrutiny of:
(a) decisions and/or actions of the CSP and its partners, but only in so far as they relate
to crime and disorder;
(b) the CSP’s annual strategic assessment;
(c)
the CSP’s partnership plan;
(d) community safety related local improvement targets measured through Local Area
Agreements, Comprehensive Area Assessment and the Place Based Survey;
(e) any other local crime and disorder matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and
disorder/community safety functions; and
(f)
the scrutiny of Councillor Calls for Action (on crime and disorder/community safety
matters).
Management of the Council’s crime and disorder/community safety functions
10. The Council’s Strategic Director is responsible for the management of the Council’s crime
and disorder/community safety functions.
Council representatives on the CSP
11. The Leader of the Council and Managing Director are the Council’s nominated
representatives on the CSP.
CSP, responsible authorities named link officers and representatives
12. The CSP, individual responsible authorities will assign a named link officer to liaise with the
Council’s Member Services [refer to section 31 of this Memorandum of Understanding], to
ensure that communication is swift and effective and that requests for information,
responses to reports and/or recommendations and requests for CSP and responsible
authorities’ representatives to attend meetings, are dealt with, within the timescales referred
to in the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A. Contact details of the named link officers will
be notified to the Council’s Member Services.

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of
Understanding June 2015.doc

2

13. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee, the CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman.
14. If summoned to attend meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee, the nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of representatives
and substitutes as participants in the overview and scrutiny process, will be at the
discretion of their governing bodies or as detailed in their constitutions.
Underlying principles of crime and disorder overview and scrutiny
15. The following underlying principles of overview and scrutiny will assist in securing
effective outcomes and adding value:
(a) Collaboration
 community safety and freedom from crime and disorder for the people of the Borough of
Dartford is dependant upon many factors, including the services provided in partnership
by/with the CSP. The CSP will work in partnership with the Crime and Disorder
(Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to provide objective and effective scrutiny of crime
and disorder in the Borough of Dartford. This shared responsibility should be
acknowledged in any crime and disorder overview and scrutiny activity undertaken;
 increasingly, services are provided jointly or as a result of partnerships between the
Council and other public sector organisations or other parties. Overview and scrutiny
activities should therefore also reflect shared priorities, find shared solutions and be of
mutual benefit;
 while overview and scrutiny should be constructive and challenging, it will only be
successful if all partners work together considerately, within a climate of mutual respect,
trust and good faith with an understanding and commitment to the CSP’s and Council’s
crime and disorder aims and objectives.
(b) Added Value
 it is vital that overview and scrutiny brings something new to reviews/scrutiny of crime and
disorder functions and does not duplicate the many other forms of performance
management and inspection that exist for public service providers.
 overview and scrutiny activities should make a distinct and positive impact and only be
carried out where objective scrutiny/review by elected Councillors, will help progress to be
made.
 overview and scrutiny activities should have a clear purpose. There should be a focus on
crime reduction and improving the well-being of those who live and work in the Borough
of Dartford.
 the overview and scrutiny process should be proactive in seeking out issues to examine,
that will add most value.
 overview and scrutiny should be prepared to examine crime and disorder issues that
cross service or agency boundaries and make appropriate recommendations to tackle
such issues, whilst being mindful of potential implications for/on the CSP and/or other
external organisations.
 overview and scrutiny should aim to develop feasible recommendations which provide
value for money by securing benefits that outweigh the cost of implementation.
 overview and scrutiny will be focused on improving services and service provision for the
people of the Borough of Dartford and will concentrate on outputs that are intended to
help improve community safety and reduce the fear of crime in the Borough.

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of
Understanding June 2015.doc

3

(c) Clarity
Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions:





should be a transparent process which encourages open and honest discussion;
should be well planned and timely;
should be of particular issues and time-limited;
should focus on strategic priorities and concerns, with a strategic view of performance
usually aligned to key performance targets.

(d) Knowledge
 overview and scrutiny reports must be evidence-based in order to provide credible
conclusions and recommendations;
 although the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will want to be
informed, the overview and scrutiny process is not an ‘expert’ review/scrutiny of the
CSP’s crime and disorder function;
 the overview and scrutiny process should be impartial, in that it should be driven by the
evidence, rather than by a particular standpoint.
(e) Accessibility
 it is a fundamental role of the overview and scrutiny process to ensure that there is full
and equal access to the democratic process, through public involvement and
engagement;
 the views and ideas of service users (and non-users), service providers and organisations
and other agencies with an interest in the subject under review/scrutiny, are all valuable
in effective scrutiny – overview and scrutiny should involve all stakeholders and take
account of views of service users and the public, with particular efforts to engage groups
that are harder to reach;
 constructive engagement and clear lines of communication should enable a two-way flow
of information between crime and disorder overview and scrutiny and all those involved,
including feedback of results.
Providing information to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee
16. The CSP, responsible authorities and the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee, will respect the requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998. The provision of
information to/for overview and scrutiny will be governed by relevant legislation and
established protocols for the sharing of data.
17. To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process and in accordance with reg.4 of the Local
Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees)(England) Regulations 2012, requested
information will be pro-actively provided by the CSP and responsible authorities (acting
individually or collectively).
Notice of required attendance at committee meetings
18. Forward planning of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee’s annual
work programme will normally ensure the provision of reasonable notice of requests for
information/the submission of written reports and/or required attendance at Committee
meetings, of representatives of the responsible authorities.
19. The CSP and responsible authorities will be informed in advance by the Council’s Member
Services, of overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of
Understanding June 2015.doc

4

20. Dates and times of meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee, agendas, minutes and reports, will be circulated by the Council’s Member
Services, to the named link officer of the CSP and the responsible authorities.
21. Subject to 14 clear days’ notice (i.e.14 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and
information being provided as to the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny,
representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations
working with the CSP, may be invited under Section 21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act
2000 to attend the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee meetings, to
give evidence and/or answer questions.
22. Representatives of the CSP and the responsible authorities and/or other organisations
working with the CSP should be willing to engage constructively with overview and scrutiny
and attend meetings when invited.
Access to information
23. Reports which are presented to the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk and circulated
to the CSP and the responsible authorities’ named link officers, 5 clear days before the
Committee meeting.
Style and conduct of committee meetings
24. Meetings of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee will be conducted
in accordance with the principles and procedures set out in the Overview and Scrutiny
Procedure Rules and Access to information Procedure Rules of the Council’s Standing
Orders and in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol at Appendix A.
Reports and recommendations of the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee
25. The CSP and responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by the Crime
and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to have regard to the Committee’s
Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local
Government Act 2000).
Monitoring recommendations
26. Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the CSP and responsible
authorities will be measured by the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee.
Local improvement targets
27. The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee may scrutinise performance
and delivery of the Kent County Council’s KA2 – LAA crime and disorder/community safety
local improvement targets.

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of
Understanding June 2015.doc

5

Councillor Calls for Action
28. The CSP and responsible authorities (either collectively or individually) will co-operate on
matters related to Councillor Calls for Action.
Resolving disputes about this Memorandum of Understanding
29. If the CSP and responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually) believe that this
Memorandum of Understanding is not being adhered to, the issue should be referred to the
Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee for consideration and decision.
The Committee’s decision will be final.
Review of this Memorandum of Understanding
30. This Memorandum of Understanding will be reviewed jointly, on an annual basis or more
frequently, if experience and circumstances highlight that amendments may need to be
made.
Complaints against the CSP
31. Complaints against the CSP will be dealt with under the CSP’s complaints procedure.
Complaints relating to CSP activities submitted to the CSP against individual responsible
authorities will be dealt with by the individual responsible authorities under their respective
complaints procedure. The response to the complaint will be copied to the chairman of the
CSP.
Availability of support
32. Further advice or information on any aspect of this Memorandum of Understanding or on
overview and scrutiny at Dartford Borough Council, is available from Member Services by
emailing memberservices@dartford.gov.uk or telephoning the Member Services Manager
on 01322 343430.

S:\Overview and Scrutiny Committees\CDC Memo of Understanding\LSP - CDC and CSP Memorandum of
Understanding June 2015.doc

6

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE PROTOCOL
‘Crime and disorder’ is defined as including forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-social
behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment or the misuse of drugs, alcohol
and other substances.
Introduction

This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles
and responsibilities, the overview and scrutiny role performed by nonexecutive Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing
local communities.

Terms of Reference

To review and scrutinise, and make reports or recommendations, regarding
the functioning of the responsible authorities which comprise the Dartford
and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (the CSP):
Dartford Borough Council [a responsible authority]
Gravesham Borough Council [a responsible authority]
Kent Police [a responsible authority]
Kent County Council [a responsible authority]
Kent Fire and Rescue Service [a responsible authority]
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company [a
responsible body]
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group [a
responsible authority]

Guidelines

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the
Council (the GAC);
Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
Codes of Conduct;
Secretary of State/Home Office guidance issued from time to
time.

Committee
accountability

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority.

Elected Member
accountability

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's
functions. This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the
Council complies with the law and does not act unlawfully.

Compliance
principles

The Committee will:

Comply with the Council's crime and disorder aims as stated from time
to time in the Council's Strategic and Policy Framework;

Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC;

Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the
Council;

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 1






Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on
technical professional issues. Officers must not be pressurised to
change their advice to suit political aspirations. Questions to Officers
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions
within Officers' remit;
Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by
name;
Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities.

Frequency of
meetings

No less than once in every twelve month period, the Committee will meet to
review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken by the CSP and the
responsible authorities (acting collectively or individually), in connection with
their crime and disorder functions, as the Committee considers appropriate.

Membership

Committee membership cannot include any member of the Council’s
Cabinet.
The Overview and Scrutiny Process

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge overview and scrutiny
ns functions relating to crime and disorder/community safety.
1.What may be
scrutinised
1.1

decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities (either
collectively or individually);

1.2

the CSP’s annual strategic assessment to inform the Community Safety
Plan;

1.3

the CSP’s partnership plan;

1.4

Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs);

1.5

crime and disorder/community safety related local improvement targets;

1.6

subject to section U. of this Protocol, any other local crime and disorder
matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community
safety functions;

1.7

items related to crime and disorder/community safety referred to in the
Members' Information Bulletin;

1.8

NB: Overview and scrutiny of the CSP’s crime and disorder functions will
not focus on day to day operational performance, which is the proper
concerns of managers of the responsible authorities.
matters related to the systemic failure in the discharge of crime and disorder
functions irrespective of the fact that there is a right of recourse to a review
or right of appeal conferred by or under any enactment (see section E.3).

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 2

2.What may be
reviewed
2.1
A.Draw downs

A.1

The matters referred to in sections 1.1 – 1.3 and 1.6 – 1.8 of this Protocol.
Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising/reviewing
decisions/actions of the CSP, responsible authorities, Cabinet etc.
and/or the scrutiny/review of the effects/outcomes of a decision post
implementation
For each meeting of the Committee:
 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the
Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the Council;
 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on
the Council;
 through the Chairman of the Committee, one item only for any other
Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served
basis’.
 In cases of genuine urgency, the Chairman may authorise more than the
allocated number of draw downs per Political Group on the Council,
referred to this section A.1

A.2

Each Committee meeting may draw down for overview and scrutiny
purposes, no more than five items in total. These five items may comprise a
combination of items relating respectively, to a Call-in, CCfA, the overview
and scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities
(either collectively or individually), Cabinet/Officers, local improvement
targets etc. Whatever combination is applied, the Committee is restricted to
the overview and scrutiny of five items in total, per Committee meeting.

A.3

(a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no
later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on
which the meeting is held).
(b) The need (if any) for participants (CSP representatives, Members,
Officers, and other external participants) to appear before the
Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon on
the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight
excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is
held).

A.4

Where the Committee wish to review/scrutinise an item for the purposes of
examining the effect and outcomes of the CSP and/or the responsible
authority, Cabinet etc. decision post implementation, drawing down the item
may need to be delayed to a future date.
NB: The focus of the review/scrutiny in such circumstances will be
concerned with the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not
reference was made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in
any background document before the Committee.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 3

A.5

When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the
Political Groups to sum up.

A.6

The Managing Director, in consultation with the Strategic Director (External
Services), will make the final decision on the rejection of a draw down, with
reasons recorded in writing. In the absence of either the Managing Director
or Strategic Director (External Services), the Strategic Director (Internal
Services) will be consulted by the other.

B. Requests for
information
B.1

Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will
apply. The request for information will:
 detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw
down(s);
 the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report from the CSP,
background information, research, data, statistics, etc.;
 if applicable, identify the need for participants (CSP representatives,
Members, Officers and/or other external participants) to appear before
the Committee (refer to the general principles on participation detailed in
section D of this Protocol);
 provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics
to be raised on the item(s);
 provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes
of putting questions to participants.

B.2

On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the
Strategic Director (External Services) and links officers of the CSP and
responsible authorities. Where the request for information relates to a
Cabinet decision/action, the Strategic Director (External Services) and the
Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.

B.3

Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period,
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and
the day on which the meeting is held).

B.4

Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data Protection
Act 2018.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 4

B.5

Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal
proceedings or current or future operations of the CSP and the responsible
authorities, whether acting collectively or individually.

B.6

Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach
of confidence actionable by any person.

B.7

Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the
categories of exempt information and reg.5 of the Local Authorities
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012 and
Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential information, will apply to the
proceedings of the Committee.

B.8

The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the
receipt of information, particularly where requests for additional information
are made or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where
there are costs implications associated with providing the information. In
these circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman
accordingly.

B.9

To facilitate the overview and scrutiny process, the CSP and responsible
authorities are under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).

C. Call-in of Cabinet
decisions
C.1

This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making.
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C.15
and C.16 of this Protocol.

C.2

(a) Call-in will be by three Members of the Committee (involving
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member
Services by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in.
(b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may not
do so again until a period of six months has expired.

C.3

A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the
rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet,
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for the
Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee Chairman
will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for referring the Callin back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration.
Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 5

C.4

Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either:
(a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the Deferred
Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not possible for
the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet,
defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; or
(b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for
reconsideration.

C.5

Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report (setting
out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, suggestions
and/or comments), either refer the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision
back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate
on the Call-in at the next ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an
extraordinary meeting of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in
Standing Order 1.(3) on the convening of extraordinary meetings.

C.6

On receipt of the Committee's report:
(a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ Suspended
Decision and the contents of the Committee's report before coming to a
final decision. Providing the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is
not contrary to the budget or policy framework, the Cabinet may or may
not amend the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching
a final decision and implementing it; or
(b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet (with
the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.
Unless the
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final
decision and implementing it.
NB: The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet
decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the
Council.

C.7

Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or
reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect i.e.
be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will become
effective:

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 6

(a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to
the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet.
(b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not
refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.
C.8

A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny after
implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in section A
of this Protocol.
NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the
subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to topic
scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern.

C.9

This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or action
to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently. The
definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. where
any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the Council's or
the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the powers of the
Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the Monitoring
Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and which cannot
await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary meeting of the
GAC.
NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key
decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside the
Budget or Policy Framework).

C.10

Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-in
will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately.

C.11

Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the Committee
may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.

C.12

Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to in
the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol.

C.13

Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order
55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)).

C.14

The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an
individual Call-in.

C.15

A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to
be challenged. A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.

C.16

The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with
proposals for review.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 7

D.Participants
D.1

D.2

The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic
under review/scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the
proceedings of the Committee.

Persons required to attend if summoned
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to
the nature and scope of the overview and scrutiny:
Council participants
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend meetings
of the Committee, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer
questions (Section 21(13)(a) of the Local Government Act 2000).
CSP participants
Representatives of the CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body
invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend Committee meetings (Section
21(13)(b) of the Local Government Act 2000).

D.3

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, members
of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may be invited
(but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make representations,
answer questions or give evidence.
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact.

D.4

Expert advisors and assessors
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the
development of crime and disorder policies and may appoint experts,
advisors and assessors to assist the Committee in the process.

D.5

Lead Members
Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but cannot
be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give evidence
on their respective portfolios.

D.5A

Councillors who are not members of the Committee
The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee.

D.6

The overview and scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the
availability of a participant to attend, when summoned or invited. In these
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman
accordingly.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 8

D.7

Participation Rules
(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within
the discretion of the Managing Director.
(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this
Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant
portfolio.
(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be involved
in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they are
substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s role
is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, as
an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting even
if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can only
speak with the permission of the Chairman.
(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers
to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure. This restriction is
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights.
(e) (i) Subject to pars.(i) and (iii) below, the Chairman reserves the right
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Managing
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a
named Cabinet member(s)/Lead Member(s), Council Officer(s),
representatives of the CSP and/or responsible authorities as
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).
(ii) The CSP’s representative will be its Chairman or Vice-Chairman.
(iii) The nomination/appointment by the responsible authorities of
representatives as participants in the overview and scrutiny process,
and substitutions, will be at the discretion of their governing bodies or
as detailed in their constitutions.
(f)

Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or
investigation will not be called as participants.

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(h) and
(i) below. Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their
particular issues.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 9

(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information
provisions. In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that
the question may be answered in private session.
(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would be
entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate
conduct/actions/inactions.
(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on
that evidence.
(k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants'
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the
Committee.
(l)Participants may be asked to explain:
(i) what the policies are;
(ii) the justification and objectives of those policies;
(iii)the extent to which those objectives may have been met;
(iv)how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the
policy measures and the manner of their implementation.
(m)Participants may be asked explain and justify;
 advice they have given prior to decisions being taken;
 decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the
Cabinet, CSP etc.
NB:As far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into
discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically
contentious. Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's policies
and actions should always be consistent with the requirement for Officers
to be politically neutral.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 10

E. Councillor Calls for
Action (CCfA)
E.1
Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E.7 and E10 of this Protocol, any
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any crime and
disorder matter.
The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure.
E.3

A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it consists
of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible has not
been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on a
systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or
refers to an excluded matter (reg.4. the Overview and Scrutiny (Reference
by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 2012).

E.4

Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern by
the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last resort,
once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted. Local
ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director before
agreeing to champion a CCfA.

E.5

The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has the
support of the local community and the Member does not have a disclosable
pecuniary interests or prejudicial interest in the matter.

E.6

The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances where
the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet (section 19(5) of the
Police and Justice Act 2006).

E.7

Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.

E.8

The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on
written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th day
before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

E.9

The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.

E.10

The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee. In
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA.

E.11

If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will within
5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the Committee’s
decision and the reasons for it. The Committee’s decision is final. There is
no right of appeal.

E.12

The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the
matter raised.

E.13

Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or recommend
accordingly to the CSP and the responsible authorities (either collectively or

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 11

individually), GAC and/or the Cabinet. The rules detailed in sections H and
M of this Protocol, will apply.
E.14

The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the
local ward Member or await the CSP’s and the responsible authorities’ (either
collectively or individually), GAC’s or the Cabinet’s response before doing
so.

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol,
F. Committee member any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section
business
21A(1) of the Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to
the Committee’s functions on the agenda. This right will be exercised by
giving written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th
day before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.

GH. The duty to have
regard to reports/
recommendations
G.1

G.2

The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body may be required by
the Committee to have regard to the Committee's Overview or Scrutiny
Report and/or recommendations (Section 9FF(2) of the Local Government
Act 2000).
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the
body concerned, clear reasons will be given. Where recommendations have
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be readdressed fully by the Committee.

H. Co-option
H.1

The Committee may recommend to the GAC, the appointment/co-option of
additional persons to serve on the Committee or its sub-committee, subject
to the following:
(i) a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/sub-committee will not be
entitled to vote on any particular matter, unless the Committee so
determines and subject to the GAC’s permission in advance, on voting
rights.
(ii) a co-opted person's membership may be limited to the exercise of the
Committee's/sub-committee’s powers in relation to a particular matter or
type of matter.
(iii) the Committee will only co-opt an employee, officer or member of the
responsible authorities comprising the CSP to serve on the
Committee/sub-committee, providing this person:

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 12

(a) is not the chairman or vice chairman of the CSP or the nominated
representative/member or substitute of the responsible authorities ;
and
(b) is not a Cabinet member (or an executive member of Kent County
Council or Gravesham Borough Council).
(iv) the membership of a person co-opted to serve on the Committee/subcommittee, may be withdrawn at any time by the Committee.
(v) [Voting] Co-optees will comply with the Council’s [Member] Code of
Conduct set out in Part 5 of the Constitution.
(vi) Co-optees will have access to exempt/confidential information
considered/to be considered by the Committee. The rules detailed in
section Q.4 of this Protocol, will apply.
J.2

Co-optees will count towards establishing a quorum.

K. Work programme
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are
not members of the largest political group on the Council.

K.1

K.2

Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work
programme will be avoided.

K.3

The CSP and the responsible authorities will be informed in advance, of
overview and scrutiny exercises (including their scope).

K.4

The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make
recommendations for future work programmes.

L. Appointment of
independent experts,
advisers/assessors
L.1

Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview
and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups.
Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights and
will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum.

L.2

The criteria for selection will be;

(c)

(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert
knowledge of the subject in question;
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could
be seen as prejudicial to their independence;
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation
contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee,
officer or member of the CSP, responsible authorities or co-ordinating
body.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 13

L.3

Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to follow the
principles referred to in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality.

L.4

Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses.

L.5

Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt
information is being discussed.

L.6

In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC
on inter alia:
 the corporate approach of the Council;
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations;
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice;
 vires and propriety of expenditure;
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty
and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports).
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure.

M. Overview or
Scrutiny reports
and/or recommendations

M.1

All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the CSP, responsible
authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by an Overview or Scrutiny Report
prepared by the Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate
Officer and the Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the
preparation of committee reports.

M.2

The Overview or Scrutiny Report will include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised;
(b) a summary of the evidence considered;
(c) a list of the participants involved in the overview and scrutiny exercise;
(d) any recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised, including
where applicable, an indication of the costs associated with
implementing the recommendations;
(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority
recommendation(s);
(f) the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the
recommendation(s).

M.3

All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will
be detailed in the Overview or Scrutiny Report.

M.4

The Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published
and sent to the link officer of the relevant body.

M.5

The CSP, responsible authorities and co-ordinating body are under a legal
obligation to consider the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or
recommendations and respond to the Committee within 28 days (or as soon
as reasonably possible) of the date of the Overview or Scrutiny Report,
indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take (see section H.1

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 14

above). The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and GAC.
Relevant bodies may fully accept, partially accept or reject the Overview or
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations. If the relevant body partially
accepts or rejects the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations,
the body must detail its reasons.
M.6

The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the relevant body, attend
its meeting and present the Overview or Scrutiny Report and answer
questions.

M.7

If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a
'minority view' report to the relevant body for consideration and provided they
do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.

M.8

If at all possible, Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations
should be included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the
relevant body unless the matter which is the subject of the Overview or
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations is scheduled to be considered by
the relevant body within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee
issues the Overview or Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations. In such
circumstances,
the
Committee's
Overview
or
Scrutiny
Report/recommendations will be considered by the relevant body in the
context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s agenda.

M.9

Only one Overview or Scrutiny Report per meeting of the relevant body may
be submitted by the Committee for consideration.

M.10

Following receipt of the relevant body’s response, the Committee may, by
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] relevant body'
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the
Committee considers that no further action is necessary.

M.11

Overview or Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be
copied to the Cabinet Chairman. The GAC will not consider an Overview or
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations until the Cabinet has had the
opportunity to comment.

M.12

Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions,
motions or through policy and other debates.

N. Cabinet Key
Decisions

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in the
forward plan, but the Committee believes that it should have been included,
the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the decision to
the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9). The Committee's
consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject to the rules on
confidential and exempt information.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 15

P. Monitoring Officer
reports

Q. Consideration of
items at meetings
Q.1

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet.

Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting. The order
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of:



Call – in;



decisions and/or actions of the CSP and the responsible authorities
(either collectively or individually);



the CSP’s annual strategic assessment;



the CSP’s partnership plan;



Draw downs;



CCfA;



Key Decisions;



any other local crime and disorder matter related to the
Council’s/Cabinet’s crime and disorder/community safety functions;



Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent
and Routine Matters);



Minority member business;



Scrutiny Committee member business;



Monitoring progress of agreed actions;



Members’ Information Bulletin.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 16

Q.2

The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b).

Q.3

Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended.

Q.4

Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s)
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)).

Q.5

In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and
Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential disciplinary
and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the Managing
Director.

Q.6

Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by
any scrutiny investigation. In the circumstances, it may be necessary to defer
further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been
dispensed with.

Q.7

Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any
other Committee/Board of the Council.

R. Conduct of
meetings
R.1

Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or
exempt information is being considered. The Access to Information
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply.

R.2

The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders
will apply.

R.3

Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed
in Standing Order 15.

S. Task groups/
informal Member
working groups
S.1

Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail. Task groups will
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally.

S.2

The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with other
bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-authority
overview and scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s
functions.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 17

S.3

Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may
contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process.

S.4

Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members. The
political balance rules need not apply.

S.5

Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings. The
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if
necessary.

S.6

The task group may obtain information through different media, including
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; and
written submissions from participants.

S.7

Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of
the record of their attendance.

S.8

Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group. The
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group Chairman
before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic Director
(External Services) for comment.

S.9

The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or
Strategic Director (External Services).

S.10

The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to
the relevant body i.e. CSP, responsible authorities, GAC and/or Cabinet with
a note of the debate and any changes arising from the debate.
The rules detailed in sections G, H and M of this Protocol will apply.

S.11

T. Sub-committees
T.1

T.2

The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further
consideration.

The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules
detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to
its sub-committees.
Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively
with overview and scrutiny.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 18

U. Regulatory bodies
U.1

The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies). Scrutiny of decisions of
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals
procedures.
However, the Committee may make reports and/or
recommendations in accordance with section M. of this Protocol.

U.2

Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman. The
rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will apply.

U.3

Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the
body concerned, clear reasons will be given. Where recommendations have
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be readdressed fully by the Committee.

V. Declarations of
interest
V.1

Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code
of Conduct.

V.2

Representatives from the responsible authorities and other partner
organisations are subject to their respective professional codes of conduct.

V.3

Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability.

V.4

All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become
apparent to them.

V.5

No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which
they have been directly involved.
The Committee’s policy development and/or review work may draw directly
from the outputs of its scrutiny functions (scrutiny of Cabinet decisions and/or
proposed decisions). It may also involve the consideration of policy themes
and matters of local concern, which may have potential implications for the
policies of the Council. In the circumstances, subject to the rules detailed in
section V.6 of this Protocol, Committee members and Lead Members who
have been directly involved in policy development, may participate in the
Committee’s policy development and/or review work.

V.6

With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol,
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee)
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery
to observe the vote on the matter.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 19

W. Review of this This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if
Protocol
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are
required.

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

C&DC 20

ANNEX 1

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community

First level response

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request

Before agreeing, Director to
undertake
screening/filter
checks (section 6 of Guide)

Agree to champion

Second level response

Third level response

Fourth level response

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CSP etc. (section 11 of
Guide) – Log attempt to resolve

Concern resolved

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to Crime
and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee rejects CCFA (see Committee’s Protocol
for procedure)

Local ward Member notified
with written reasons

Fifth level response

Refuse to champion and
provide constituent/local ward
Member with written reasons for
refusal

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee accepts CCfA and considers issue in
accordance with Committee’s Protocol

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee compiles report and recommendations
to Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. (refer to Committee’s
Protocol)

Cabinet/GAC, CSP etc. consider recommendations
and respond within 2 months, setting out reasons for
any inaction

Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny)
Committee considers and publishes responses to
scrutiny recommendations

June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Crime and Disorder Committee Protocol

Feedback to local ward Member

C&DC 21

Statutory Guidance on Overview and
Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities

May 2019
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

© Crown copyright, 2019
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.
You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium,
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg
If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
Telephone: 030 3444 0000
For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg
May 2019
ISBN: 978-1-4098-5458-6

Contents
Ministerial Foreword

4

About this Guidance

5

1. Introduction and Context

7

2. Culture

8

3. Resourcing

13

4. Selecting Committee Members

15

5. Power to Access Information

18

6. Planning Work

21

7. Evidence Sessions

25

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an Executive-Scrutiny Protocol

27

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging Independent Technical Advisers

28

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching an External Organisation to Appear
before a Committee
30

3

Ministerial Foreword
The role that overview and scrutiny can play in holding an authority’s decision-makers to
account makes it fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local
democracy. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of public services and
drives improvements within the authority itself. Conversely, poor scrutiny can be indicative
of wider governance, leadership and service failure.
It is vital that councils and combined authorities know the purpose of scrutiny, what
effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it and the benefits it can bring. This guidance
aims to increase understanding in all four areas.
In writing this guidance, my department has taken close note of the House of Commons
Select Committee report of December 2017, as well as the written and oral evidence
supplied to that Committee. We have also consulted individuals and organisations with
practical involvement in conducting, researching and supporting scrutiny.
It is clear from speaking to these practitioners that local and combined authorities with
effective overview and scrutiny arrangements in place share certain key traits, the most
important being a strong organisational culture. Authorities who welcome challenge and
recognise the value scrutiny can bring reap the benefits. But this depends on strong
commitment from the top - from senior members as well as senior officials.
Crucially, this guidance recognises that authorities have democratic mandates and are
ultimately accountable to their electorates, and that authorities themselves are best-placed
to know which scrutiny arrangements are most appropriate for their own individual
circumstances.
I would, however, strongly urge all councils to cast a critical eye over their existing
arrangements and, above all, ensure they embed a culture that allows overview and
scrutiny to flourish.

Rishi Sunak MP
Minister for Local Government

4

About this Guidance
Who the guidance is for
This document is aimed at local authorities and combined authorities in England to help
them carry out their overview and scrutiny functions effectively. In particular, it provides
advice for senior leaders, members of overview and scrutiny committees, and support
officers.
Aim of the guidance
This guidance seeks to ensure local authorities and combined authorities are aware of the
purpose of overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it
effectively and the benefits it can bring.
As such, it includes a number of policies and practices authorities should adopt or should
consider adopting when deciding how to carry out their overview and scrutiny functions.
The guidance recognises that authorities approach scrutiny in different ways and have
different processes and procedures in place, and that what might work well for one
authority might not work well in another.
The hypothetical scenarios contained in the annexes to this guidance have been included
for illustrative purposes, and are intended to provoke thought and discussion rather than
serve as a ‘best’ way to approach the relevant issues.
While the guidance sets out some of the key legal requirements, it does not seek to
replicate legislation.
Status of the guidance
This is statutory guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government. Local authorities and combined authorities must have regard to it when
exercising their functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this context, does
not mean that the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but
that they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular case.
Not every authority is required to appoint a scrutiny committee. This guidance applies to
those authorities who have such a committee in place, whether they are required to or not.
This guidance has been issued under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 and
under paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development
and Construction Act 2009, which requires authorities to have regard to this guidance. In
addition, authorities may have regard to other material they might choose to consider,
including that issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, when exercising their overview and
scrutiny functions.

5

Terminology
Unless ‘overview’ is specifically mentioned, the term ‘scrutiny’ refers to both overview and
scrutiny.1
Where the term ‘authority’ is used, it refers to both local authorities and combined
authorities.
Where the term ‘scrutiny committee’ is used, it refers to an overview and scrutiny
committee and any of its sub-committees. As the legislation refers throughout to powers
conferred on scrutiny committees, that is the wording used in this guidance. However, the
guidance should be seen as applying equally to work undertaken in informal task and
finish groups, commissioned by formal committees.
Where the term ‘executive’ is used, it refers to executive members.
For combined authorities, references to the ‘executive’ or ‘cabinet’ should be interpreted as
relating to the mayor (where applicable) and all the authority members.
For authorities operating committee rather than executive arrangements, references to the
executive or Cabinet should be interpreted as relating to councillors in leadership
positions.
Expiry or review date
This guidance will be kept under review and updated as necessary.

A distinction is often drawn between ‘overview’ which focuses on the development of
policy, and ‘scrutiny’ which looks at decisions that have been made or are about to be
made to ensure they are fit for purpose.
1

6

1. Introduction and Context
1. Overview and scrutiny committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new
executive governance arrangements to ensure that members of an authority who
were not part of the executive could hold the executive to account for the decisions
and actions that affect their communities.
2. Overview and scrutiny committees have statutory powers2 to scrutinise decisions
the executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement, and those that have
already been taken/implemented. Recommendations following scrutiny enable
improvements to be made to policies and how they are implemented. Overview and
scrutiny committees can also play a valuable role in developing policy.
Effective overview and scrutiny should:
• Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge;
• Amplify the voices and concerns of the public;
• Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their
role; and
• Drive improvement in public services.
3. The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny
committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as
amended by the Localism Act 2011.
4. The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils
to revert to a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils
who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but
may do so if they wish. The legislation has been strengthened and updated since
2000, most recently to reflect new governance arrangements with combined
authorities. Requirements for combined authorities are set out in Schedule 5A to the
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.
5. Current overview and scrutiny legislation recognises that authorities are
democratically-elected bodies who are best-placed to determine which overview
and scrutiny arrangements best suit their own individual needs, and so gives them a
great degree of flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt.
6. In producing this guidance, the Government fully recognises both authorities’
democratic mandate and that the nature of local government has changed in recent
years, with, for example, the creation of combined authorities, and councils
increasingly delivering key services in partnership with other organisations or
outsourcing them entirely.

2

Section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 1 of Schedule 5A to the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.
7

2. Culture
7. The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority will
largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails.
8. While everyone in an authority can play a role in creating an environment conducive
to effective scrutiny, it is important that this is led and owned by members, given
their role in setting and maintaining the culture of an authority.
9. Creating a strong organisational culture supports scrutiny work that can add real
value by, for example, improving policy-making and the efficient delivery of public
services. In contrast, low levels of support for and engagement with the scrutiny
function often lead to poor quality and ill-focused work that serves to reinforce the
perception that it is of little worth or relevance.
10. Members and senior officers should note that the performance of the scrutiny
function is not just of interest to the authority itself. Its effectiveness, or lack thereof,
is often considered by external bodies such as regulators and inspectors, and
highlighted in public reports, including best value inspection reports. Failures in
scrutiny can therefore help to create a negative public image of the work of an
authority as a whole.
How to establish a strong organisational culture
11. Authorities can establish a strong organisational culture by:
a) Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy – all members and
officers should recognise and appreciate the importance and legitimacy the
scrutiny function is afforded by the law. It was created to act as a check and
balance on the executive and is a statutory requirement for all authorities
operating executive arrangements and for combined authorities.
Councillors have a unique legitimacy derived from their being democratically
elected. The insights that they can bring by having this close connection to local
people are part of what gives scrutiny its value.
b) Identifying a clear role and focus – authorities should take steps to ensure
scrutiny has a clear role and focus within the organisation, i.e. a niche within
which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. Therefore, prioritisation is
necessary to ensure the scrutiny function concentrates on delivering work that
is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider authority – this is one
of the most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element to get right if it is
to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority (see chapter 6).
Authorities should ensure a clear division of responsibilities between the
scrutiny function and the audit function. While it is appropriate for scrutiny to pay
due regard to the authority’s financial position, this will need to happen in the
context of the formal audit role. The authority’s section 151 officer should advise
scrutiny on how to manage this dynamic.

8

While scrutiny has no role in the investigation or oversight of the authority’s
whistleblowing arrangements, the findings of independent whistleblowing
investigations might be of interest to scrutiny committees as they consider their
wider implications. Members should always follow the authority’s constitution
and associated Monitoring Officer directions on the matter. Further guidance on
whistleblowing can be found at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employersand-code-of-practice.pdf.
c) Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive and
scrutiny – authorities should ensure early and regular discussion takes place
between scrutiny and the executive, especially regarding the latter’s future work
programme. Authorities should, though, be mindful of their distinct roles:
In particular:
•

The executive should not try to exercise control over the work of
the scrutiny committee. This could be direct, e.g. by purporting to
‘order’ scrutiny to look at, or not look at, certain issues, or
indirect, e.g. through the use of the whip or as a tool of political
patronage, and the committee itself should remember its
statutory purpose when carrying out its work. All members and
officers should consider the role the scrutiny committee plays to
be that of a ‘critical friend’ not a de facto ‘opposition’. Scrutiny
chairs have a particular role to play in establishing the profile and
nature of their committee (see chapter 4); and

•

The chair of the scrutiny committee should determine the nature
and extent of an executive member’s participation in a scrutiny
committee meeting, and in any informal scrutiny task group
meeting.

d) Managing disagreement – effective scrutiny involves looking at issues that can
be politically contentious. It is therefore inevitable that, at times, an executive
will disagree with the findings or recommendations of a scrutiny committee.
It is the job of both the executive and scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk
of this happening, and authorities should take steps to predict, identify and act
on disagreement.
One way in which this can be done is via an ‘executive-scrutiny protocol’ (see
annex 1) which can help define the relationship between the two and mitigate
any differences of opinion before they manifest themselves in unhelpful and
unproductive ways. The benefit of this approach is that it provides a framework
for disagreement and debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. Often,

9

the value of such a protocol lies in the dialogue that underpins its preparation. It
is important that these protocols are reviewed on a regular basis.
Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. ask the
executive to reconsider them before they are implemented, but should not view
it as a substitute for early involvement in the decision-making process or as a
party-political tool.
e) Providing the necessary support – while the level of resource allocated to
scrutiny is for each authority to decide for itself, when determining resources an
authority should consider the purpose of scrutiny as set out in legislation and
the specific role and remit of the authority’s own scrutiny committee(s), and the
scrutiny function as a whole.
Support should also be given by members and senior officers to scrutiny
committees and their support staff to access information held by the authority
and facilitate discussions with representatives of external bodies (see chapter
5).
f) Ensuring impartial advice from officers – authorities, particularly senior
officers, should ensure all officers are free to provide impartial advice to scrutiny
committees. This is fundamental to effective scrutiny. Of particular importance is
the role played by ‘statutory officers’ – the monitoring officer, the section 151
officer and the head of paid service, and where relevant the statutory scrutiny
officer. These individuals have a particular role in ensuring that timely, relevant
and high-quality advice is provided to scrutiny.
g) Communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider authority – the
scrutiny function can often lack support and recognition within an authority
because there is a lack of awareness among both members and officers about
the specific role it plays, which individuals are involved and its relevance to the
authority’s wider work. Authorities should, therefore, take steps to ensure all
members and officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny committee plays
in the organisation, its value and the outcomes it can deliver, the powers it has,
its membership and, if appropriate, the identity of those providing officer
support.
h) Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the scrutiny
committee – part of communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider
authority should happen through the formal, public role of full Council –
particularly given that scrutiny will undertake valuable work to highlight
challenging issues that an authority will be facing and subjects that will be a
focus of full Council’s work. Authorities should therefore take steps to ensure full
Council is informed of the work the scrutiny committee is doing.
One way in which this can be done is by reports and recommendations being
submitted to full Council rather than solely to the executive. Scrutiny should
decide when it would be appropriate to submit reports for wider debate in this
way, taking into account the relevance of reports to full Council business, as
well as full Council’s capacity to consider and respond in a timely manner. Such

10

reports would supplement the annual report to full Council on scrutiny’s
activities and raise awareness of ongoing work.
In order to maintain awareness of scrutiny at the Combined Authority and
provoke dialogue and discussion of its impact, the business of scrutiny should
be reported to the Combined Authority board or to the chairs of the relevant
scrutiny committees of constituent and non-constituent authorities, or both. At
those chairs’ discretion, particular Combined Authority scrutiny outcomes, and
what they might mean for each individual area, could be either discussed by
scrutiny in committee or referred to full Council of the constituent authorities.
i) Communicating scrutiny’s role to the public – authorities should ensure
scrutiny has a profile in the wider community. Consideration should be given to
how and when to engage the authority’s communications officers, and any other
relevant channels, to understand how to get that message across. This will
usually require engagement early on in the work programming process (see
chapter 6).
j) Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an independent
mindset – formal committee meetings provide a vital opportunity for scrutiny
members to question the executive and officers.
Inevitably, some committee members will come from the same political party as
a member they are scrutinising and might well have a long-standing personal,
or familial, relationship with them (see paragraph 25).
Scrutiny members should bear in mind, however, that adopting an independent
mind-set is fundamental to carrying out their work effectively. In practice, this is
likely to require scrutiny chairs working proactively to identify any potentially
contentious issues and plan how to manage them.
Directly-elected mayoral systems
12. A strong organisational culture that supports scrutiny work is particularly important
in authorities with a directly-elected mayor to ensure there are the checks and
balances to maintain a robust democratic system. Mayoral systems offer the
opportunity for greater public accountability and stronger governance, but there
have also been incidents that highlight the importance of creating and maintaining a
culture that puts scrutiny at the heart of its operations.
13. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should ensure that scrutiny committees are
well-resourced, are able to recruit high-calibre members and that their scrutiny
functions pay particular attention to issues surrounding:
• rights of access to documents by the press, public and councillors;
• transparent and fully recorded decision-making processes, especially
avoiding decisions by ‘unofficial’ committees or working groups;
• delegated decisions by the Mayor;
• whistleblowing protections for both staff and councillors; and
• powers of Full Council, where applicable, to question and review.

11

14. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should note that mayors are required by
law to attend overview and scrutiny committee sessions when asked to do so (see
paragraph 44).

12

3. Resourcing
15. The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a pivotal role in
determining how successful that function is and therefore the value it can add to the
work of the authority.
16. Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the resource it provides, but every
authority should recognise that creating and sustaining an effective scrutiny function
requires them to allocate resources to it.
17. Authorities should also recognise that support for scrutiny committees, task groups
and other activities is not solely about budgets and provision of officer time,
although these are clearly extremely important elements. Effective support is also
about the ways in which the wider authority engages with those who carry out the
scrutiny function (both members and officers).
When deciding on the level of resource to allocate to the scrutiny
function, the factors an authority should consider include:
• Scrutiny’s legal powers and responsibilities;
• The particular role and remit scrutiny will play in the authority;
• The training requirements of scrutiny members and support
officers, particularly the support needed to ask effective
questions of the executive and other key partners, and make
effective recommendations;
• The need for ad hoc external support where expertise does not
exist in the council;
• Effectively-resourced scrutiny has been shown to add value to
the work of authorities, improving their ability to meet the needs
of local people; and
• Effectively-resourced scrutiny can help policy formulation and so
minimise the need for call-in of executive decisions.

Statutory scrutiny officers
18. Combined authorities, upper and single tier authorities are required to designate a
statutory scrutiny officer,3 someone whose role is to:
• promote the role of the authority’s scrutiny committee;
• provide support to the scrutiny committee and its members; and
• provide support and guidance to members and officers relating to the functions
of the scrutiny committee.

3

Section 9FB of the Local Government Act 2000; article 9 of the Combined Authorities
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order
2017
13

19. Authorities not required by law to appoint such an officer should consider whether
doing so would be appropriate for their specific local needs.
Officer resource models
20. Authorities are free to decide for themselves which wider officer support model best
suits their individual circumstances, though generally they adopt one or a mix of the
following:
• Committee – officers are drawn from specific policy or service areas;
• Integrated – officers are drawn from the corporate centre and also service the
executive; and
• Specialist – officers are dedicated to scrutiny.
21. Each model has its merits – the committee model provides service-specific
expertise; the integrated model facilitates closer and earlier scrutiny involvement in
policy formation and alignment of corporate work programmes; and the specialist
model is structurally independent from those areas it scrutinises.
22. Authorities should ensure that, whatever model they employ, officers tasked with
providing scrutiny support are able to provide impartial advice. This might require
consideration of the need to build safeguards into the way that support is provided.
The nature of these safeguards will differ according to the specific role scrutiny
plays in the organisation.

14

4. Selecting Committee Members
23. Selecting the right members to serve on scrutiny committees is essential if those
committees are to function effectively. Where a committee is made up of members
who have the necessary skills and commitment, it is far more likely to be taken
seriously by the wider authority.
24. While there are proportionality requirements that must be met,4 the selection of the
chair and other committee members is for each authority to decide for itself.
Guidance for combined authorities on this issue has been produced by the Centre
for Public Scrutiny5.
Members invariably have different skill-sets. What an authority must
consider when forming a committee is that, as a group, it possesses the
requisite expertise, commitment and ability to act impartially to fulfil its
functions.
25. Authorities are reminded that members of the executive cannot be members of a
scrutiny committee.6 Authorities should take care to ensure that, as a minimum,
members holding less formal executive positions, e.g. as Cabinet assistants, do not
sit on scrutinising committees looking at portfolios to which those roles relate.
Authorities should articulate in their constitutions how conflicts of interest, including
familial links (see also paragraph 31), between executive and scrutiny
responsibilities should be managed, including where members stand down from the
executive and move to a scrutiny role, and vice-versa.
26. Members or substitute members of a combined authority must not be members of
its overview and scrutiny committee.7 This includes the Mayor in Mayoral Combined
Authorities. It is advised that Deputy Mayors for Policing and Crime are also not
members of the combined authority’s overview and scrutiny committee.
Selecting individual committee members
27. When selecting individual members to serve on scrutiny committees, an authority
should consider a member’s experience, expertise, interests, ability to act
impartially, ability to work as part of a group, and capacity to serve.

4

See, for example, regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Committee System) (England)
Regulations 2012 (S.I. 2012/1020) and article 4 of the Combined Authorities (Overview
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I.
2017/68).
5
See pages 15-18 of ‘Overview and scrutiny in combined authorities: a plain English
guide’: https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combinedauthorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf
6
Section 9FA(3) of the Local Government Act 2000.
7
2(3) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction
Act 2009
15

28. Authorities should not take into account a member’s perceived level of support for
or opposition to a particular political party (notwithstanding the wider legal
requirement for proportionality referred to in paragraph 24).
Selecting a chair
29. The Chair plays a leadership role on a scrutiny committee as they are largely
responsible for establishing its profile, influence and ways of working.
30. The attributes authorities should and should not take into account when selecting
individual committee members (see paragraphs 27 and 28) also apply to the
selection of the Chair, but the Chair should also possess the ability to lead and build
a sense of teamwork and consensus among committee members.
Chairs should pay special attention to the need to guard the
committee’s independence. Importantly, however, they should take care
to avoid the committee being, and being viewed as, a de facto
opposition to the executive.
31. Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is strongly recommended
that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their relatives8. Combined authorities
should note the legal requirements that apply to them where the Chair is an
independent person9.
32. The method for selecting a Chair is for each authority to decide for itself, however
every authority should consider taking a vote by secret ballot. Combined Authorities
should be aware of the legal requirements regarding the party affiliation of their
scrutiny committee Chair10.
Training for committee members
33. Authorities should ensure committee members are offered induction when they take
up their role and ongoing training so they can carry out their responsibilities
effectively. Authorities should pay attention to the need to ensure committee
members are aware of their legal powers, and how to prepare for and ask relevant
questions at scrutiny sessions.
34. When deciding on training requirements for committee members, authorities should
consider taking advantage of opportunities offered by external providers in the
sector.
Co-option and technical advice
35. While members and their support officers will often have significant local insight and
an understanding of local people and their needs, the provision of outside expertise
can be invaluable.

A definition of ‘relative’ can be found at section 28(10) of the Localism Act 2011.
See article 5(2) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access
to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 2017/68).
10
Article 5(6) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to
Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017.
8
9

16

36. There are two principal ways to procure this:
• Co-option – formal co-option is provided for in legislation11. Authorities must
establish a co-option scheme to determine how individuals will be co-opted onto
committees; and
• Technical advisers – depending on the subject matter, independent local
experts might exist who can provide advice and assistance in evaluating
evidence (see annex 2).

11

Section 9FA(4) Local Government Act 2000
17

5. Power to Access Information
37. A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the authority holds, and
to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job effectively.
38. This need is recognised in law, with members of scrutiny committees enjoying
powers to access information12. In particular, regulations give enhanced powers to a
scrutiny member to access exempt or confidential information. This is in addition to
existing rights for councillors to have access to information to perform their duties,
including common law rights to request information and rights to request information
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information
Regulations 2004.
39. When considering what information scrutiny needs in order to carry out its work,
scrutiny members and the executive should consider scrutiny’s role and the legal
rights that committees and their individual members have, as well as their need to
receive timely and accurate information to carry out their duties effectively.
40. Scrutiny members should have access to a regularly available source of key
information about the management of the authority – particularly on performance,
management and risk. Where this information exists, and scrutiny members are
given support to understand it, the potential for what officers might consider
unfocused and unproductive requests is reduced as members will be able to frame
their requests from a more informed position.
41. Officers should speak to scrutiny members to ensure they understand the reasons
why information is needed, thereby making the authority better able to provide
information that is relevant and timely, as well as ensuring that the authority
complies with legal requirements.
While each request for information should be judged on its individual
merits, authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the
information they hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members.
42. The law recognises that there might be instances where it is legitimate for an
authority to withhold information and places a requirement on the executive to
provide the scrutiny committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for
that decision13. However, members of the executive and senior officers should take
particular care to avoid refusing requests, or limiting the information they provide,
for reasons of party political or reputational expediency.

12

Regulation 17 - Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to
Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10 Combined Authorities (Overview and
Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017.
13
Regulation 17(4) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(4) Combined Authorities (Overview
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017.
18

Before an authority takes a decision not to share information it holds, it
should give serious consideration to whether that information could be
shared in closed session.
43. Regulations already stipulate a timeframe for executives to comply with requests
from a scrutiny member14. When agreeing to such requests, authorities should:
• consider whether seeking clarification from the information requester could
help better target the request; and
• Ensure the information is supplied in a format appropriate to the recipient’s
needs.
44. Committees should be aware of their legal power to require members of the
executive and officers to attend before them to answer questions15. It is the duty of
members and officers to comply with such requests.16
Seeking information from external organisations
45. Scrutiny members should also consider the need to supplement any authority-held
information they receive with information and intelligence that might be available
from other sources, and should note in particular their statutory powers to access
information from certain external organisations.
46. When asking an external organisation to provide documentation or appear before it,
and where that organisation is not legally obliged to do either (see annex 3),
scrutiny committees should consider the following:
a) The need to explain the purpose of scrutiny – the organisation being
approached might have little or no awareness of the committee’s work, or of an
authority’s scrutiny function more generally, and so might be reluctant to comply
with any request;
b) The benefits of an informal approach – individuals from external
organisations can have fixed perceptions of what an evidence session entails
and may be unwilling to subject themselves to detailed public scrutiny if they
believe it could reflect badly on them or their employer. Making an informal
approach can help reassure an organisation of the aims of the committee, the
type of information being sought and the manner in which the evidence session
would be conducted;

Regulation 17(2) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(2) Combined Authorities (Overview
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017.
15
Section 9FA(8) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 5A to the
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.
16
Section 9FA(9) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(7) of Schedule 5A to the
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009.
14

19

c) How to encourage compliance with the request – scrutiny committees will
want to frame their approach on a case by case basis. For contentious issues,
committees might want to emphasise the opportunity their request gives the
organisation to ‘set the record straight’ in a public setting; and
d) Who to approach – a committee might instinctively want to ask the Chief
Executive or Managing Director of an organisation to appear at an evidence
session, however it could be more beneficial to engage front-line staff when
seeking operational-level detail rather than senior executives who might only be
able to talk in more general terms. When making a request to a specific
individual, the committee should consider the type of information it is seeking,
the nature of the organisation in question and the authority’s pre-existing
relationship with it.
Following ‘the Council Pound’
Scrutiny committees will often have a keen interest in ‘following the
council pound’, i.e. scrutinising organisations that receive public funding
to deliver goods and services.
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy of this interest and, where
relevant, consider the need to provide assistance to scrutiny members
and their support staff to obtain information from organisations the
council has contracted to deliver services. In particular, when agreeing
contracts with these bodies, authorities should consider whether it
would be appropriate to include a requirement for them to supply
information to or appear before scrutiny committees.

20

6. Planning Work
47. Effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the ground, with the committee
making recommendations that will make a tangible difference to the work of the
authority. To have this kind of impact, scrutiny committees need to plan their work
programme, i.e. draw up a long-term agenda and consider making it flexible enough
to accommodate any urgent, short-term issues that might arise during the year.
48. Authorities with multiple scrutiny committees sometimes have a separate work
programme for each committee. Where this happens, consideration should be given
to how to co-ordinate the various committees’ work to make best use of the total
resources available.
Being clear about scrutiny’s role
49. Scrutiny works best when it has a clear role and function. This provides focus and
direction. While scrutiny has the power to look at anything which affects ‘the area,
or the area’s inhabitants’, authorities will often find it difficult to support a scrutiny
function that carries out generalised oversight across the wide range of issues
experienced by local people, particularly in the context of partnership working.
Prioritisation is necessary, which means that there might be things that, despite
being important, scrutiny will not be able to look at.
50. Different overall roles could include having a focus on risk, the authority’s finances,
or on the way the authority works with its partners.
51. Applying this focus does not mean that certain subjects are ‘off limits’. It is more
about looking at topics and deciding whether their relative importance justifies the
positive impact scrutiny’s further involvement could bring.
52. When thinking about scrutiny’s focus, members should be supported by key senior
officers. The statutory scrutiny officer, if an authority has one, will need to take a
leading role in supporting members to clarify the role and function of scrutiny, and
championing that role once agreed.
Who to speak to
53. Evidence will need to be gathered to inform the work programming process. This
will ensure that it looks at the right topics, in the right way and at the right time.
Gathering evidence requires conversations with:
• The public – it is likely that formal ‘consultation’ with the public on the scrutiny
work programme will be ineffective. Asking individual scrutiny members to have
conversations with individuals and groups in their own local areas can work
better. Insights gained from the public through individual pieces of scrutiny work
can be fed back into the work programming process. Listening to and
participating in conversations in places where local people come together,
including in online forums, can help authorities engage people on their own
terms and yield more positive results.

21

Authorities should consider how their communications officers can help scrutiny
engage with the public, and how wider internal expertise and local knowledge
from both members and officers might make a contribution.
•

The authority’s partners – relationships with other partners should not be limited
to evidence-gathering to support individual reviews or agenda items. A range of
partners are likely to have insights that will prove useful:
o Public sector partners (like the NHS and community safety partners, over
which scrutiny has specific legal powers);
o Voluntary sector partners;
o Contractors and commissioning partners (including partners in joint
ventures and authority-owned companies);
o In parished areas, town, community and parish councils;
o Neighbouring principal councils (both in two-tier and unitary areas);
o Cross-authority bodies and organisations, such as Local Enterprise
Partnerships17; and
o Others with a stake and interest in the local area – large local employers,
for example.

•

The executive – a principal partner in discussions on the work programme
should be the executive (and senior officers). The executive should not direct
scrutiny’s work (see chapter 2), but conversations will help scrutiny members
better understand how their work can be designed to align with the best
opportunities to influence the authority’s wider work.

Information sources
54. Scrutiny will need access to relevant information to inform its work programme. The
type of information will depend on the specific role and function scrutiny plays within
the authority, but might include:
• Performance information from across the authority and its partners;
• Finance and risk information from across the authority and its partners;
• Corporate complaints information, and aggregated information from political
groups about the subject matter of members’ surgeries;
• Business cases and options appraisals (and other planning information) for
forthcoming major decisions. This information will be of particular use for predecision scrutiny; and
• Reports and recommendations issued by relevant ombudsmen, especially
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.

17

Authorities should ensure they have appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the
effective democratic scrutiny of Local Enterprise Partnerships’ investment decisions.
22

As committees can meet in closed session, commercial confidentiality
should not preclude the sharing of information. Authorities should note,
however, that the default for meetings should be that they are held in
public (see 2014 guidance on ‘Open and accountable local
government’:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf).
55. Scrutiny members should consider keeping this information under regular review. It
is likely to be easier to do this outside committee, rather than bringing such
information to committee ’to note’, or to provide an update, as a matter of course.
Shortlisting topics
Approaches to shortlisting topics should reflect scrutiny’s overall role in
the authority. This will require the development of bespoke, local
solutions, however when considering whether an item should be
included in the work programme, the kind of questions a scrutiny
committee should consider might include:
• Do we understand the benefits scrutiny would bring to
this issue?
• How could we best carry out work on this subject?
• What would be the best outcome of this work?
• How would this work engage with the activity of the
executive and other decision-makers, including partners?
56. Some authorities use scoring systems to evaluate and rank work programme
proposals. If these are used to provoke discussion and debate, based on evidence,
about what priorities should be, they can be a useful tool. Others take a looser
approach. Whichever method is adopted, a committee should be able to justify how
and why a decision has been taken to include certain issues and not others.
57. Scrutiny members should accept that shortlisting can be difficult; scrutiny
committees have finite resources and deciding how these are best allocated is
tough. They should understand that, if work programming is robust and effective,
there might well be issues that they want to look at that nonetheless are not
selected.
Carrying out work
58. Selected topics can be scrutinised in several ways, including:

a) As a single item on a committee agenda – this often presents a limited
opportunity for effective scrutiny, but may be appropriate for some issues or
where the committee wants to maintain a formal watching brief over a given
issue;
b) At a single meeting – which could be a committee meeting or something less
formal. This can provide an opportunity to have a single public meeting about a

23

given subject, or to have a meeting at which evidence is taken from a number of
witnesses;
c) At a task and finish review of two or three meetings – short, sharp scrutiny
reviews are likely to be most effective even for complex topics. Properly
focused, they ensure members can swiftly reach conclusions and make
recommendations, perhaps over the course of a couple of months or less;
d) Via a longer-term task and finish review – the ‘traditional’ task and finish
model – with perhaps six or seven meetings spread over a number of months –
is still appropriate when scrutiny needs to dig into a complex topic in significant
detail. However, the resource implications of such work, and its length, can
make it unattractive for all but the most complex matters; and
e) By establishing a ‘standing panel’ – this falls short of establishing a whole
new committee but may reflect a necessity to keep a watching brief over a
critical local issue, especially where members feel they need to convene
regularly to carry out that oversight. Again, the resource implications of this
approach means that it will be rarely used.

24

7. Evidence Sessions
59. Evidence sessions are a key way in which scrutiny committees inform their work.
They might happen at formal committee, in less formal ‘task and finish’ groups or at
standalone sessions.
Good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective evidence
sessions. Members should have a clear idea of what the committee
hopes to get out of each session and appreciate that success will
depend on their ability to work together on the day.
How to plan
60. Effective planning does not necessarily involve a large number of pre-meetings, the
development of complex scopes or the drafting of questioning plans. It is more often
about setting overall objectives and then considering what type of questions (and
the way in which they are asked) can best elicit the information the committee is
seeking. This applies as much to individual agenda items as it does for longer
evidence sessions – there should always be consideration in advance of what
scrutiny is trying to get out of a particular evidence session.
Chairs play a vital role in leading discussions on objective-setting and
ensuring all members are aware of the specific role each will play during
the evidence session.
61. As far as possible there should be consensus among scrutiny members about the
objective of an evidence session before it starts. It is important to recognise that
members have different perspectives on certain issues, and so might not share the
objectives for a session that are ultimately adopted. Where this happens, the Chair
will need to be aware of this divergence of views and bear it in mind when planning
the evidence session.
62. Effective planning should mean that at the end of a session it is relatively
straightforward for the chair to draw together themes and highlight the key findings.
It is unlikely that the committee will be able to develop and agree recommendations
immediately, but, unless the session is part of a wider inquiry, enough evidence
should have been gathered to allow the chair to set a clear direction.
63. After an evidence session, the committee might wish to hold a short ‘wash-up’
meeting to review whether their objectives were met and lessons could be learned
for future sessions.
Developing recommendations
64. The development and agreement of recommendations is often an iterative process.
It will usually be appropriate for this to be done only by members, assisted by cooptees where relevant. When deciding on recommendations, however, members
should have due regard to advice received from officers, particularly the Monitoring
Officer.

25

65. The drafting of reports is usually, but not always, carried out by officers, directed by
members.
66. Authorities draft reports and recommendations in a number of ways, but there are
normally three stages:
i.

the development of a ‘heads of report’ – a document setting out general
findings that members can then discuss as they consider the overall structure
and focus of the report and its recommendations;

ii.

the development of those findings, which will set out some areas on which
recommendations might be made; and

iii.

the drafting of the full report.

67. Recommendations should be evidence-based and SMART, i.e. specific,
measurable, achievable, relevant and timed. Where appropriate, committees may
wish to consider sharing them in draft with interested parties.
68. Committees should bear in mind that often six to eight recommendations are
sufficient to enable the authority to focus its response, although there may be
specific circumstances in which more might be appropriate.
Sharing draft recommendations with executive members should not
provide an opportunity for them to revise or block recommendations
before they are made. It should, however, provide an opportunity for
errors to be identified and corrected, and for a more general sensecheck.

26

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an
Executive-Scrutiny Protocol
An executive-scrutiny protocol can deal with the practical expectations of scrutiny
committee members and the executive, as well as the cultural dynamics.
Workshops with scrutiny members, senior officers and Cabinet can be helpful to inform the
drafting of a protocol. An external facilitator can help bring an independent perspective.
Councils should consider how to adopt a protocol, e.g. formal agreement at scrutiny
committee and Cabinet, then formal integration into the Council’s constitution at the next
Annual General Meeting.
The protocol, as agreed, may contain sections on:
•
•

•
•

•

The way scrutiny will go about developing its work programme (including the ways
in which senior officers and Cabinet members will be kept informed);
The way in which senior officers and Cabinet will keep scrutiny informed of the
outlines of major decisions as they are developed, to allow for discussion of
scrutiny’s potential involvement in policy development. This involves the building in
of safeguards to mitigate risks around the sharing of sensitive information with
scrutiny members;
A strengthening and expansion of existing parts of the code of conduct that relate to
behaviour in formal meetings, and in informal meetings;
Specification of the nature and form of responses that scrutiny can expect when it
makes recommendations to the executive, when it makes requests to the executive
for information, and when it makes requests that Cabinet members or senior
officers attend meetings; and
Confirmation of the role of the statutory scrutiny officer, and Monitoring Officer, in
overseeing compliance with the protocol, and ensuring that it is used to support the
wider aim of supporting and promoting a culture of scrutiny, with matters relating to
the protocol’s success being reported to full Council through the scrutiny Annual
Report.

27

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging
Independent Technical Advisers
This example demonstrates how one Council’s executive and scrutiny committee worked
together to scope a role and then appoint an independent adviser on transforming social
care commissioning. Their considerations and process may be helpful and applicable in
other similar scenarios.
Major care contracts were coming to an end and the Council took the opportunity to review
whether to continue with its existing strategic commissioning framework, or take a different
approach – potentially insourcing certain elements.
The relevant Director was concerned about the Council’s reliance on a very small number
of large providers. The Director therefore approached the Scrutiny and Governance
Manager to talk through the potential role scrutiny could play as the Council considered
these changes.
The Scrutiny Chair wanted to look at this issue in some depth, but recognised its
complexity could make it difficult for her committee to engage – she was concerned it
would not be able to do the issue justice. The Director offered support from his own officer
team, but the Chair considered this approach to be beset by risks around the
independence of the process.
She talked to the Director about securing independent advice. He was worried that an
independent adviser could come with preconceived ideas and would not understand the
Council’s context and objectives. The Scrutiny Chair was concerned that independent
advice could end up leading to scrutiny members being passive, relying on an adviser to
do their thinking for them. They agreed that some form of independent assistance would
be valuable, but that how it was provided and managed should be carefully thought out.
With the assistance of the Governance and Scrutiny Manager, the Scrutiny Chair
approached local universities and Further Education institutions to identify an appropriate
individual. The approach was clear – it set out the precise role expected of the adviser,
and explained the scrutiny process itself. Because members wanted to focus on the risks
of market failure, and felt more confident on substantive social care matters, the approach
was directed at those with a specialism in economics and business administration. The
Council’s search was proactive – the assistance of the service department was drawn on
to make direct approaches to particular individuals who could carry out this role.
It was agreed to make a small budget available to act as a ‘per diem’ to support an
adviser; academics were approached in the first instance as the Council felt able to make
a case that an educational institution would provide this support for free as part of its
commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility.
Three individuals were identified from the Council’s proactive search. The Chair and ViceChair of the committee had an informal discussion with each – not so much to establish
their skills and expertise (which had already been assessed) but to give a sense about

28

their ‘fit’ with scrutiny’s objectives and their political nous in understanding the environment
in which they would operate, and to satisfy themselves that they will apply themselves
even-handedly to the task. The Director sat in on this process but played no part in who
was ultimately selected.
The independent advice provided by the selected individual gave the Scrutiny Committee
a more comprehensive understanding of the issue and meant it was able to offer informed
advice on the merits of putting in place a new strategic commissioning framework.

29

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching
an External Organisation to Appear before a
Committee
This example shows how one council ensured a productive scrutiny meeting, involving a
private company and the public. Lessons may be drawn and apply to other similar
scenarios.
Concerns had been expressed by user groups, and the public at large, about the reliability
of the local bus service. The Scrutiny Chair wanted to question the bus company in a
public evidence session but knew that she had no power to compel it to attend. Previous
attempts to engage it had been unsuccessful; the company was not hostile, but said it had
its own ways of engaging the public.
The Monitoring Officer approached the company’s regional PR manager, but he expressed
concern that the session would end in a ‘bunfight’. He also explained the company had put
their improvement plan in the public domain, and felt a big council meeting would
exacerbate tensions.
Other councillors had strong views about the company – one thought the committee
should tell the company it would be empty-chaired if it refused to attend. The Scrutiny
Chair was sympathetic to this, but thought such an approach would not lead to any
improvements.
The Scrutiny Chair was keen to make progress, but it was difficult to find the right person
to speak to at the company, so she asked council officers and local transport advocacy
groups for advice. Speaking to those people also gave her a better sense of what
scrutiny’s role might be.
When she finally spoke to the company’s network manager, she explained the situation
and suggested they work together to consider how the meeting could be productive for the
Council, the company and local people. In particular, this provided her with an opportunity
to explain scrutiny and its role. The network manager remained sceptical but was
reassured that they could work together to ensure that the meeting would not be an
‘ambush’. He agreed in principle to attend and also provide information to support the
Committee’s work beforehand.
Discussions continued in the four weeks leading up to the Committee meeting. The
Scrutiny Chair was conscious that while she had to work with the company to ensure that
the meeting was constructive – and secure their attendance – it could not be a whitewash,
and other members and the public would demand a hard edge to the discussions.
The scrutiny committee agreed that the meeting would provide a space for the company to
provide context to the problems local people are experiencing, but that this would be
preceded by a space on the agenda for the Chair, Vice-chair, and representatives from
two local transport advocacy groups to set out their concerns. The company were sent in

30

advance a summary of the general areas on which members were likely to ask questions,
to ensure that those questions could be addressed at the meeting.
Finally, provision was made for public questions and debate. Those attending the meeting
were invited to discuss with each other the principal issues they wanted the meeting to
cover. A short, facilitated discussion in the room led by the Chair highlighted the key
issues, and the Chair then put those points to the company representatives.
At the end of the meeting, the public asked questions of the bus company representative
in a 20-minute plenary item.
The meeting was fractious, but the planning carried out to prepare for this – by channelling
issues through discussion and using the Chair to mediate the questioning – made things
easier. Some attendees were initially frustrated by this structure, but the company
representative was more open and less defensive than might otherwise have been the
case.
The meeting also motivated the company to revise its communications plan to become
more responsive to this kind of challenge, part of which involved a commitment to feed
back to the scrutiny committee on the recommendations it made on the night.

31

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
24 July 2019

WORK PROGRAMME: 2019-20 MUNICIPAL YEAR and BEYOND
1. Summary
1.1

To agree the contents and timeframe for a rolling Work Programme for the
2019-20 municipal year and beyond, as required by the Committee’s
Protocol.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1

That the draft rolling Work Programme attached at Appendix A to the report
be approved, subject to any amendments/additions Members may wish to
make, with the guidance of the Strategic Director (External Services).

3. Background and Discussion
3.1

The Committee is responsible for setting its own work programme under the
terms of its Protocol [Section K1-3 dated June 2019].

3.2

A revised rolling Work Programme and timetable for the 2019-20 municipal
cycle and beyond is attached at Appendix A for discussion and approval.
Members and Officers may have further topics they wish to suggest for
consideration by the Committee.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
4.1

Scrutiny of the responsible local authorities [in the discharge of their crime
and disorder functions] through the provision of an agreed Work Programme,
should lead to an increase in public confidence, a reduction in anti-social
behaviour (ASB) and help to meet the Safer Community Corporate
Objectives (SC1 and SC2).

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk
assessments

Financial Implications
Legal Implications
Staffing Implications
Administrative Implications
Risk Assessment

None
None
None
None
Reduction in the incidents of crime
and disorder and ASB in Dartford
Town Centre and environs.

CRIME AND DISORDER (OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY) COMMITTEE
24 July 2019

6. Appendix
Appendix A: Draft rolling Work Programme for 2019-20 and beyond;
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents
consulted

Date

Crime and
Disorder (O&S)
Agenda and
Minutes
February 2019;
ToRs as agreed
on2 May 2019
Protocol [June
2019]

July 2019

File
Ref

Report
Author

Section and
Directorate

David Hook
01322 343276

Democratic
Services
SD(ES)

Exempt
Information
Category
N/A

Appendix A
CRIME and DISORDER (Overview & Scrutiny) COMMITTEE
WORK PROGRAMME for the 2019-20 MUNICIPAL CYCLE
And Beyond
Background:
On a statutory basis to:


Consider the CSP’s annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document;



Consider the CSP’s Community Safety Strategy and annual Refresh
documents.

On a discretionary basis and with the prior agreement of the
Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) as
appropriate, to review the contributions made by CSP partner
Agencies to the aims of the Partnership.
Plus:






To consider the CSP’s mid-term Performance Report;
To receive updates from the Council’s Kent Police and Crime Panel
(PCP) representative and to note the Panel’s Minutes as appropriate;
To receive Dartford Town Against Crime (D-TAC) Annual Review;
To consider Draw-Down topics via the Chairman on an ad-hoc basis
with the agreement of the Managing Director;
Discretionary topics as agreed by the Committee under the guidance of
the Strategic Director (External Services)

The Committee’s Work Programme is subject to review at each meeting.
Discretionary items may be rescheduled and new items added in accordance
with the Committee’s wishes and the guidance of the Strategic Director
(External Services).
A draft Work Programme for the 2019-20 municipal cycle and beyond, is set
out overleaf for Members’ consideration.

Appendix A

Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee
Draft Work Programme for the 2019-20 Municipal Year
And Beyond

2019/20: Summer Meeting - 24 July 2019










CSP Community Safety Strategy 2019-2022;
Kent PCP Update;
D-TAC Progress Report;
Update on ‘Dartford’s Safer Streets Policy’ – District Commander and
CSU Sergeant, Kent Police;
Performance – July 2019 CSP report;
Committee’s Annual Report 2018-19;
Committee Protocol – June 2019
Government Statutory Guidance on Overview & Scrutiny in Local
Authorities
Committee’s Rolling Work Programme for 2019-20 Municipal Year and
Beyond

2019/20: Winter Meeting – 12 February 2020





PCP Update;
Update on ‘Dartford’s Safer Streets Policy’ – CSU Inspector, Kent
Police
Strategic Assessment 2019;
Review Committee’s 2019-20 Rolling Work Programme

2020/21 Summer Meeting – 22 July 2020








Community Safety Plan (2019-2022) 2020 Refresh
PCP Update
Update on ‘Dartford’s Safer Streets Policy’ – CSU Inspector, Kent
Police
D-TAC Progress Report
Performance – CSP July 2020 report
Committee’s Annual Report for 2019-20 Municipal Year
Review Committee’s Rolling Work Programme for 2020-21 and Beyond

2020/21 Winter Meeting – 10 February 2021




Strategic Assessment 2020
PCP Update
Update on ‘Dartford’s Safer Streets Policy’ – CSU Inspector, Kent
Police

Appendix A


Update Committee’s Rolling Work Programme 2021-22 and Beyond

Democratic Services July 2019

